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The Metropolitan opera’s 2012–13 season featured an extraordinary number of artistic highlights, earning high 

praise for new productions, while the company nevertheless faced new financial challenges. The Met presented 

seven new stagings during the 2012–13 season, including the Met premieres of Thomas Adès’s The Tempest and 

Donizetti’s Maria Stuarda, the second of the composer’s trilogy of tudor operas (with the third installment planned 

for a future season). All seven new productions, plus five revivals, were presented in movie theaters around the 

world as part of the Met’s groundbreaking Live in HD series, which continued to be an important revenue source 

for the Met, earning $28 million. Combined earned revenue for the Met (Live in HD and box office) totaled $117.3 

million. This figure was lower than anticipated as the company continued to face a flat box office, complicated by 

the effects of Hurricane Sandy, the aftermath of which had a negative impact of approximately $2 million. 

As always, the season featured the talents of the world’s leading singers, conductors, directors, designers, 

choreographers, and video artists. two directors made stunning company debuts: François Girard, with his 

mesmerizing production of Parsifal on the occasion of Wagner’s bicentennial, and Michael Mayer, whose bold 

reimagining of Verdi’s Rigoletto in 1960 las Vegas was the talk of the opera world and beyond. Robert lepage 

returned to direct the highly anticipated company premiere of Thomas Adès’s The Tempest, with the composer on 

the podium. new productions were also staged by David Alden (Un Ballo in Maschera), Bartlett Sher (the season-

opening L’Elisir d’Amore) and Sir David McVicar, who directed two new productions, Donizetti’s Maria Stuarda 

and Handel’s Giulio Cesare. The critical and audience response to these new productions was the best the Met had 

enjoyed in several years.

The season offered some extraordinary performances from the world’s top singers, including Marcelo Álvarez, piotr 

Beczala, Diana Damrau, David Daniels, natalie Dessay, Joyce DiDonato, Dmitri Hvorostovsky, Jonas Kaufmann, 

Simon Keenlyside, Mariusz Kwiecien, Željko lučić, peter Mattei, Anna netrebko, René pape, Matthew polenzani, 

Sondra Radvanovsky, and Dolora Zajick, all of whom starred in new productions. Revivals were cast with such star 

singers as Renée Fleming, elīna Garanča, Susan Graham, Deborah Voigt, and the ageless plácido Domingo, among 

others. Music Director James levine was once again absent from the podium for the season as he recovered from a 

serious back injury. principal Conductor Fabio luisi led seven productions, including all four operas of Wagner’s 

Ring, presented in complete cycles in the spring. Maestro luisi was joined by such esteemed visiting conductors as 

Harry Bicket, Semyon Bychkov, Daniele Gatti, louis langrée, lorin Maazel, and Yannick nézet-Séguin, among 

others.

total box office for the season was 69.1%. The holiday presentation of an english-language version of Rossini’s The 

Barber of Seville sold out its run, as did revivals of Verdi’s La Traviata and poulenc’s Dialogues des Carmélites.
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The Live in HD season offered 12 cinema presentations around the world, with ten countries added to the global 

network from the previous season for a total of 64 countries and nearly 2,000 movie theaters. total attendance for 

the HD series in 2012-13 was just over 2.5 million. The series was once again supported by its founding sponsor, the 

neubauer Family Foundation. Bloomberg provided global corporate sponsorship. The HD Live in Schools program 

grew to reach 33 school districts across the united States. performances were also shared through Metropolitan 

opera Radio on SiriusXM, which presented 101 live performances, and on the Met’s website, which streamed 33 

live performances. The season-opening new production, of L’Elisir d’Amore, was presented live to audiences in times 

Square and on the lincoln Center plaza for the seventh consecutive year. twenty-one live Saturday radio broadcasts 

were heard over the toll Brothers-Metropolitan opera International Radio network. 

The Met’s amounts available from fundraising to support operations including net assets released from restrictions 

were $157.9 million in FY13. This amount represented a record 48% of the Met’s operating expenses, a warning call 

that in future seasons the Met’s finances must be rebalanced by lowering costs and raising the Met’s endowment.

In 2012–13, a number of new members joined the Met Board of Directors and others took on new Board roles. 

Misook Doolittle and Dafna Meitar-nechmad were elected Managing Directors; Jacques e. Brand, linda e. 

Johnson, Sana H. Sabbagh, and Richard S. tedlow were elected Advisory Directors; Sandra ourusoff Massey 

and Cynthia D. Sculco were elected Members of the Association; and Yung Hee Kim and Joshua Kindler were 

appointed Young Associate Directors. Adrienne Arsht and Hartley R. Rogers moved from Managing Director to 

Advisory Director. Rena De Sisto, Rolf Heitmeyer, and Mrs. Corbin R. Miller moved from Advisory Director to 

Managing Director. Sanford H. Fisher moved from Managing Director to Member of the Association and eleanor 

n. Caulkins moved from Advisory Director to Member of the Association.

I was once again very pleased to work closely with president and Chief executive officer Kevin W. Kennedy. 

together, he and I enjoyed a positive collaboration with General Manager peter Gelb and Music Director James 

levine.

Ann Ziff

Chairman
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* Debut8 season repertory

Giuseppe Verdi

un BAllo In MASCHeRA
ConduCtor Fabio luisi

ProduCtion David Alden

Set deSigner paul Steinberg*

CoStume deSigner Brigitte Reiffenstuel

Lighting deSigner Adam Silverman*

ChoreograPher Maxine Braham*

production a gift of the Betsy and edward Cohen/ 
Areté Foundation Fund for new productions and Revivals,  
and Daisy and paul Soros

Additional funding from The Gilbert S. Kahn &  
John J. noffo Kahn Foundation, and  
Mr. and Mrs. William R. Miller

Gaetano Donizetti

l’elISIR D’AMoRe
ConduCtor Maurizio Benini

ProduCtion Bartlett Sher

Set deSigner Michael Yeargan

CoStume deSigner Catherine Zuber

Lighting deSigned by Jennifer tipton

production a gift of The Monteforte Foundation,  
in honor of Wim Kooyker

George Frideric Handel

GIulIo CeSARe
ConduCtor Harry Bicket

ProduCtion David McVicar

Set deSigner Robert Jones

CoStume deSigner Brigitte Reiffenstuel

Lighting deSigner paule Constable

ChoreograPher Andrew George

production a gift of the  
Arthur F. and Alice e. Adams Charitable  
Foundation, in memory of William B. Warren,  
former Co-trustee and Governor  
of the Foundation; and the  
Mercedes t. Bass Charitable Corporation

Additional funding from  
The Annenberg Foundation, and the  
national endowment for the Arts

production owned by Glyndebourne Festival opera

2012–13 Season Repertory

NEW PRODUCTIONS

The 2012–13 season featured 12 Live in HD transmissions,  
23 Saturday radio broadcasts (21 live and 2 pre-taped),  
101 SiriusXM live broadcasts, and 33 web streams.

Gaetano Donizetti

MARIA StuARDA
ConduCtor Maurizio Benini 

ProduCtion David McVicar

Set & CoStume deSigner John Macfarlane

Lighting deSigned by Jennifer tipton

ChoreograPher leah Hausman

production a gift of The Sybil B. Harrington  
endowment Fund

Richard Wagner

pARSIFAl
ConduCtor Daniele Gatti/Asher Fisch

ProduCtion François Girard*

Set deSigner Michael levine

CoStume deSigner Thibault Vancraenenbroeck*

Lighting deSigner David Finn*

Video deSigner peter Flaherty*

ChoreograPher Carolyn Choa

dramaturg Serge lamothe*

production a gift of the Gramma Fisher Foundation,  
Marshalltown, Iowa

Major funding from Rolex

Additional funding from Marina Kellen French,  
and the edgar Foster Daniels Foundation 

A co-production of the Metropolitan opera,  
the opéra national de lyon, and  
the Canadian opera Company
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Giuseppe Verdi

RIGoletto
ConduCtor Michele Mariotti/Marco Armiliato

ProduCtion Michael Mayer*

Set deSigner Christine Jones*

CoStume deSigner Susan Hilferty*

Lighting deSigner Kevin Adams*

ChoreograPher Steven Hoggett*

production a gift of the Hermione  
Foundation, laura Sloate, trustee;  
and Mr. and Mrs. paul M. Montrone

Thomas Adès

tHe teMpeSt
ConduCtor Thomas Adès*

ProduCtion Robert lepage

Set deSigner Jasmine Catudal*

CoStume deSigner Kym Barrett*

Lighting deSigner Michel Beaulieu*

Video image artiSt David leclerc*

ChoreograPher Crystal pite*

production a gift of Mrs. Bert S. turner  
and Robert l. turner

Additional funding from the Wyncote Foundation,  
as recommended by Frederick R. Haas and Daniel K. Meyer, M.D.

A co-production of the Metropolitan opera,  
l’opéra de Québec, and the Wiener Staatsoper, Vienna

In collaboration with ex Machina

REPERTORY

Giuseppe Verdi

AIDA
ConduCtor Fabio luisi

ProduCtion Sonja Frisell

Set deSigner Gianni Quaranta

CoStume deSigner Dada Saligeri

Lighting deSigner Gil Wechsler

ChoreograPher Alexei Ratmansky

production a gift of Mrs. Donald D. Harrington

Gioachino Rossini

tHe BARBeR oF SeVIlle
ConduCtor Yves Abel

ProduCtion Bartlett Sher

Set deSigner Michael Yeargan

CoStume deSigner Catherine Zuber

Lighting deSigner Christopher Akerlind

engLiSh tranSLation J. D. McClatchy

Abridged production a gift of  
Mr. and Mrs. Wilmer J. Thomas, Jr.

original production a gift of  
The Sybil B. Harrington endowment Fund

Georges Bizet

CARMen
ConduCtor Michele Mariotti*

ProduCtion Richard eyre

Set & CoStume deSigner Rob Howell

Lighting deSigner peter Mumford

ChoreograPher Christopher Wheeldon

production a gift of Mrs. paul Desmarais Sr.

Revival a gift of The Dr. M. lee pearce Foundation
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Wolfgang Amadeus Mozart

lA CleMenZA DI tIto
ConduCtor Harry Bicket

ProduCtion Jean-pierre ponnelle

Set & CoStume deSigner Jean-pierre ponnelle

Lighting deSigner Gil Wechsler

production a gift of the lila Acheson and  
DeWitt Wallace Fund, established by the  
founders of The Reader’s Digest Association, Inc.

Gioachino Rossini

le CoMte oRY
ConduCtor Maurizio Benini

ProduCtion Bartlett Sher

Set deSigner Michael Yeargan

CoStume deSigner Catherine Zuber

Lighting deSigner Brian MacDevitt

production a gift of The Sybil B. Harrington endowment Fund

Francis Poulenc

DIAloGueS DeS CARMélIteS
ConduCtor louis langrée

ProduCtion John Dexter

Set deSigner David Reppa

CoStume deSigner Jane Greenwood

Lighting deSigner Gil Wechsler

production a gift of Francis Goelet

Giuseppe Verdi

Don CARlo
ConduCtor lorin Maazel

ProduCtion nicholas Hytner

Set & CoStume deSigner Bob Crowley

Lighting deSigner Mark Henderson

production a gift of Mr. and Mrs. William R. Miller

Revival a gift of The Dr. M. lee pearce Foundation

A co-production of the Metropolitan opera;  
Royal opera House, Covent Garden;  
and The norwegian national opera and Ballet

Wolfgang Amadeus Mozart

Don GIoVAnnI
ConduCtor edward Gardner

ProduCtion Michael Grandage

Set & CoStume deSigner Christopher oram

Lighting deSigner paule Constable

ChoreograPher Ben Wright

production a gift of the Richard and Susan Braddock  
Family Foundation, and Sarah and Howard Solomon

Additional funding from Jane and Jerry del Missier,  
and Mr. and Mrs. ezra K. Zilkha

Revival a gift of The npD Group, Inc.

Charles Gounod

FAuSt
ConduCtor Alain Altinoglu

ProduCtion Des McAnuff

Set deSigner Robert Brill

CoStume deSigner paul tazewell

Lighting deSigner peter Mumford

Video deSigner Sean nieuwenhuis

ChoreograPher Kelly Devine

production a gift of Mercedes t. Bass, and  
the Betsy and edward Cohen/Areté Foundation  
Fund for new productions and Revivals

Additional funding from the Gramma Fisher Foundation,  
Marshalltown, Iowa; the Richard J. Massey Foundation  
for the Arts and Sciences; and the Metropolitan opera Club

A co-production of the Metropolitan opera and  
english national opera

Riccardo Zandonai

FRAnCeSCA DA RIMInI
ConduCtor Marco Armiliato

ProduCtion piero Faggioni

Set deSigner ezio Frigerio

CoStume deSigner Franca Squarciapino

Lighting deSigner Gil Wechsler

ChoreograPher Donald Mahler

production a gift of Mrs. Donald D. Harrington

Wolfgang Amadeus Mozart

le noZZe DI FIGARo
ConduCtor David Robertson

ProduCtion Jonathan Miller

Set deSigner peter J. Davison

CoStume deSigner James Acheson

Lighting deSigner Mark McCullough

ChoreograPher terry John Bates

production a gift of Alberto Vilar

Revival a gift of The Horace W. Goldsmith Foundation,  
in memory of James C. Slaughter
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Giuseppe Verdi

otello
ConduCtor Semyon Bychkov/Alain Altinoglu

ProduCtion elijah Moshinsky

Set deSigner Michael Yeargan

CoStume deSigner peter J. Hall

Lighting deSigner Duane Schuler

ChoreograPher eleanor Fazan

production a gift of Mrs. Donald D. Harrington

Revival a gift of Rolex

Richard Wagner

DeR RInG DeS nIBelunGen
ConduCtor Fabio luisi

ProduCtion Robert lepage

aSSoCiate direCtor neilson Vignola

Set deSigner Carl Fillion

CoStume deSigner François St-Aubin

Lighting deSigner etienne Boucher

Video image artiStS Boris Firquet (Das Rheingold  
and Die Walküre), pedro pires (Sieg fried),  
lionel Arnould (Götterdämmerung)

production a gift of Ann Ziff and the Ziff Family,  
in memory of William Ziff

In collaboration with ex Machina

Giacomo Puccini

lA RonDIne
ConduCtor Ion Marin

ProduCtion nicolas Joël

Staged by Stephen Barlow

Set deSigner ezio Frigerio

CoStume deSigner Franca Squarciapino

Lighting deSigner Duane Schuler

production a gift of The Sybil B. Harrington endowment Fund

A co-production of Théâtre du Capitole, toulouse;  
and the Royal opera House, Covent Garden

Giuseppe Verdi

lA tRAVIAtA
ConduCtor Yannick nézet-Séguin

ProduCtion Willy Decker

Set & CoStume deSigner Wolfgang Gussmann

Lighting deSigner Hans toelstede

ChoreograPher Athol Farmer

production a gift of Karen and Kevin Kennedy, and  
Mr. and Mrs. paul M. Montrone

Revival a gift of Rolex

original production of the Salzburger Festspiele;  
with thanks to De nederlandse opera

Giuseppe Verdi

Il tRoVAtoRe
ConduCtor Daniele Callegari

ProduCtion David McVicar

Set deSigner Charles edwards

CoStume deSigner Brigitte Reiffenstuel

Lighting deSigned by Jennifer tipton

ChoreograPher leah Hausman

production a gift of The Annenberg Foundation

Revival a gift of the Metropolitan opera Club

A co-production of the Metropolitan opera,  
lyric opera of Chicago, and the  
San Francisco opera Association

Hector Berlioz

leS tRoYenS
ConduCtor Fabio luisi

ProduCtion Francesca Zambello

Set deSigner Maria Bjørnson

CoStume deSigner Anita Yavich

Lighting deSigner James F. Ingalls

ChoreograPher Doug Varone

production a gift of the estate of Francis Goelet,  
Mr. and Mrs. ezra K. Zilkha, Mercedes and  
Sid Bass, the edgar Foster Daniels Foundation,  
Mr. and Mrs. William R. Miller, and  
Mr. and Mrs. paul M. Montrone

Additional funding from The Annenberg Foundation,  
Gilbert S. Kahn and John J. noffo Kahn,  
and the national endowment for the Arts

Giacomo Puccini

tuRAnDot
ConduCtor Dan ettinger

ProduCtion Franco Zeffirelli

Set deSigner Franco Zeffirelli

CoStume deSignerS Anna Anni & Dada Saligeri

Lighting deSigner Gil Wechsler

ChoreograPher Chiang Ching

production a gift of Mrs. Donald D. Harrington

Revival a gift of The Dr. M. lee pearce Foundation



12 Met events

The MET Orchestra at  
Carnegie Hall 

The Met: Live in HD  
2012–13 Transmissions 

OCTOBER 14, 2012

Semyon Bychkov, conductor

Michelle DeYoung, mezzo-soprano

wAGner: Tannhäuser, overture

wAGner: Wesendonck Lieder 

strAuss: Eine Alpensinfonie, op. 64

SUNDAY, DECEMBER 2, 2012

Fabio luisi, conductor

Yefim Bronfman, piano

David Chan, violin

GuBAidulinA: In tempus praesens 

BeethoVen: piano Concerto no. 5 in e-flat Major, op. 73, 
“emperor”
strAVinsky: The Firebird Suite (1945 version)

MAY 19, 2013

James levine, conductor

evgeny Kissin, piano

wAGner: Lohengrin, prelude to Act I

BeethoVen:  piano Concerto no. 4 in G Major, op. 58 

schuBert: Symphony no. 9 in C Major, “Great,” D. 944

OCTOBER 13, 2012
l’elISIR D’AMoRe Donizetti

OCTOBER 27, 2012
otello Verdi

NOVEMBER 10, 2012
tHe teMpeSt Adès

DECEMBER 1, 2012
lA CleMenZA DI tIto Mozart

DECEMBER 8, 2012
un BAllo In MASCHeRA Verdi

DECEMBER 15, 2012
AIDA Verdi

JANUARY 5, 2013
leS tRoYenS Berlioz

JANUARY 19, 2013
MARIA StuARDA Donizetti

FEBRUARY 16, 2013
RIGoletto Verdi

MARCH 2, 2013
pARSIFAl Wagner

MARCH 16, 2013
FRAnCeSCA DA RIMInI Zandonai

APRIl 27, 2013
GIulIo CeSARe Handel

total audience: 2,593,930
1,935 theaters; 64 countries

The Met: HD Live in Schools

In partnership with the new York City Department 
of education and with support from Bank of 
America, the program brought free high-definition 
transmissions of live opera to five new York City 
public schools and 33 school districts in states across 
the country.
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2012–13 Events

AUGUST 2 – 9, 2012

Free Summer Recital Series

AUGUST 25 – SEPTEMBER 3, 2012

Free outdoor Summer HD Festival: 10 
screenings of popular HD productions

SEPTEMBER 20, 2012

L’Elisir d’Amore Donizetti: open House Final 
Dress Rehearsal

SEPTEMBER 24, 2012

L’Elisir d’Amore Donizetti: opening night 
live relay at lincoln Center and in times 
Square

OCTOBER 8, 2012

Guggenheim Museum: Works & process—
The Tempest; Met artists performing excerpts 
from Thomas Adès’s The Tempest, including 
a panel discussion moderated by peter Gelb 
with Adès and director Robert lepage.

OCTOBER 26, 2012

le poisson Rouge & The Met: An evening 
with Thomas Adès & The Tempest; an evening 
of music inspired by Shakespeare’s play.

NOVEMBER 14, 17, 19, 2012

Così fan tutte Mozart: The Metropolitan 
opera’s lindemann Young Artist 
Development program in partnership with 
The Juilliard School. performances given in 
the peter Jay Sharp Theater at Juilliard.

JANUARY 21, 2013

Guggenheim Museum: Works & process—
Rigoletto; Met artists performing excerpts 
from Rigoletto, including a panel discussion 
moderated by Ira Glass with Susan Hilferty, 
Christine Jones, and director Michael Mayer.

JANUARY 25, 2013

Rigoletto Verdi: open House Final Dress 
Rehearsal

MARCH 10, 2013

national Council Grand Finals Concert, 
conducted by Marco Armiliato

MARCH 11, 2013

La Traviata Verdi: open House Final Dress 
Rehearsal

MAY 14, 2013

le poisson Rouge & The Met: An evening 
with nico Muhly, Two Boys, and other works; 
an evening of music in anticipation of the Met 
premiere of Muhly’s Two Boys.

JUlY 16 – JUlY 30, 2013

Free Summer Recital Series

The Arnold and Marie Schwartz 
Gallery Met

exhibitions included Ariel and Other Spirits, original 
works by artist David Salle on the occasion of the 
Met premiere of Thomas Adès’s The Tempest, and 
George Condo’s Jesters, which was timed to the new 
production of Verdi’s Rigoletto.

In addition, the Met co-presented related events  
around the city, as well as activities with the 
Metropolitan Opera Guild.



14 artist roster

SOPR ANOS
emma Bell
Anne-Carolyn Bird
Jennifer Black
Deanna Breiwick
Janai Brugger
Janinah Burnett
elizabeth Byrne
Jennifer Check
Anna Christy
Andriana Chuchman
Melissa Citro
lucy Crowe
Katarina Dalayman
Diana Damrau
Siân Davies
natalie Dessay
Kiera Duffy
Mary Dunleavy
Ashley emerson
Mojca erdmann
Ying Fang
Molly Fillmore
Renée Fleming
Jennifer Forni
Barbara Frittoli 
Maria Gavrilova
Hibla Gerzmava
Carmen Giannattasio
lori Guilbeau
Maria Guleghina
Meredith Hansen 
Wendy Bryn Harmer
Holli Harrison
Hui He
Haeran Hong
Hei-Kyung Hong
Georgia Jarman
Shannon Kessler Dooley
Jihee Kim
Kathleen Kim
Maija Kovalevska
Dina Kuznetsova
Dísella làrusdóttir
Inna los
Audrey luna
Caitlin lynch
olga Makarina
Angela Mannino
Angela Marambio
Angela Meade
laure Meloy
Heidi Melton
liudmyla Monastyrska
latonia Moore
erin Morley
olga Mykytenko
Anna netrebko
Susan neves
emily newton
Kristine opolais
lisette oropesa
Marjorie owens
Danielle pastin
lyubov petrova
lori phillips
Susanna phillips
Marina poplavskaya
patricia Racette
Sondra Radvanovsky
Jennifer Rowley
Kate Royal
emalie Savoy

Christine Schäfer
ekaterina 

Scherbachenko
Martina Serafin
oxana Shilova
ekaterina Siurina
Krassimira Stoyanova 
Chiara taigi
Danielle talamantes
Iréne Theorin
elza van den Heever
Katie Van Kooten
Deborah Voigt
Amber Wagner
Claudia Waite
nina Warren 
eva-Maria Westbroek
Katherine Whyte
Corinne Winters
Caroline Worra
Margaret Jane Wray
elena Xanthoudakis
lei Xu
pretty Yende
Guanqun Yu
Monica Yunus
Jennifer Zetlan

MEZ ZO -SOPR ANOS
Meredith Arwady
patricia Bardon
elizabeth Bishop
Stephanie Blythe 
olga Borodina
Julie Boulianne
Karen Cargill
Géraldine Chauvet
Catherine Cook
Alice Coote
Ginger Costa-Jackson
Kathryn Day
Karine Deshayes
elizabeth DeShong
Barbara Dever
Michelle DeYoung
Joyce DiDonato
Marjorie elinor Dix
Deborah Domanski
emily Fons
Ivonne Fuchs
Blythe Gaissert
elīna Garanča
eve Gigliotti
Ingeborg Gillebo
Wallis Giunta
Katharine Goeldner
Susan Graham
elizabeth Grohowski
Theodora Hanslowe
teresa S. Herold
nancy Fabiola Herrera
Jennifer Holloway
Jennifer Johnson Cano
Heather Johnson
Daveda Karanas
edyta Kulczak
Maya lahyani
Margaret lattimore
Isabel leonard
Kate lindsey
elena Manistina
Michaela Martens
Mary Ann McCormick

lauren Mcneese
Ronnita Miller 
Maria Jose Montiel
Mzia nioradze
Felicity palmer
Brenda patterson
olesya petrova
Mary phillips
Anita Rachvelishvili
Susanne Resmark
Rebecca Ringle
patricia Risley
Irene Roberts
Jane Shaulis
Anna Smirnova
Krysty Swann
Renée tatum
Margaret Thompson
oksana Volkova
Guang Yang
Dolora Zajick
Maria Zifchak

COUNTER TENORS
Rachid Ben Abdeslam 
Anthony Roth Costanzo 
David Daniels 
Iestyn Davies 
Christophe Dumaux
John Holiday
Jeffrey Mandelbaum 
Andrey nemzer

TENORS
Roberto Alagna
Marcelo Álvarez
Avgust Amonov
Michele Angelini
paul Appleby
noah Baetge
piotr Beczala
Marco Berti
Johan Botha
Marius Brenciu
Robert Brubaker
William Burden
David Cangelosi
philippe Castagner
Charles Castronovo
Mario Chang
luis Chapa
lars Cleveman
Salvatore Cordella
Stephen Costello
Richard Cox
Richard Crawley
José Cura
eric Cutler
Richard Decker
Alexey Dolgov
plácido Domingo
Michael Fabiano
Giuseppe Filianoti
Bernard Fitch
Juan Diego Flórez
Michael Forest
Walter Fraccaro
Brian Frutiger
Marcello Giordani
John Graham-Hall
Vittorio Grigolo
Adam laurence 

Herskowitz

Gwyn Hughes Jones
Bryan Hymel
Keith Jameson
Jonas Kaufmann
Adam Klein
James Kryshak
Yonghoon lee
Richard leech
Alexander lewis
Richard Margison
Stefan Margita
Raúl Melo
Zvetan Michailov
Jay Hunter Morris
Ronald naldi
Alan oke
Simon o’neill
Sean panikkar
Saimir pirgu
Matthew plenk
Matthew polenzani
David pomeroy
Frank porretta
Andrew Richards
Gregory Schmidt
Mark Schowalter
nikolai Schukoff
Scott Scully
norman Shankle
Alek Shrader
Gerhard Siegel
Bruce Sledge
toby Spence
Andrew Sritheran
taylor Stayton
Andrew Stenson
tony Stevenson
Ricardo tamura
Carl tanner 
Russell Thomas
eduardo Valdes
Ramón Vargas
Hugo Vera
philip Webb
lu Yuan

BAR ITONE S
Maksim Aniskin
Joshua Benaim
Michael Chioldi 
Vladimir Chmelo
troy Cook
Dwayne Croft
Mark Delavan
tyler Duncan
Christopher Feigum
Gerald Finley
Stephen Gaertner
George Gagnidze
Rod Gilfry
Greer Grimsley
nathan Gunn
Thomas Hampson
John Hancock
levi Hernandez
Joshua Hopkins
Dmitri Hvorostovsky
Simon Keenlyside
Mariusz Kwiecien
Alexey lavrov
Guido loconsolo
Željko lučić
Malcolm MacKenzie

Ambrogio Maestri
Alexey Markov
Alberto Mastromarino
peter Mattei
Jeff Mattsey
John Moore
Fikile Mvinjelwa
Zurab ninua
Marco nisticò
Àngel Òdena
nicholas pallesen
edward parks
David pershall
Kyle pfortmiller
Rodion pogossov
luthando Qave
teddy tahu Rhodes
Mark Rucker
Christopher 

Schaldenbrand
trevor Scheunemann
Jason Stearns
Falk Struckmann
Franco Vassallo
Marco Vratogna
David Won
Hyung Yun

BA SS - BAR ITONE S
Ildar Abdrazakov
Kyle Albertson
patrick Carfizzi
Brandon Cedel
James Courtney
David Crawford
John Del Carlo
Richard paul Fink
Bradley Garvin
Ryan Speedo Green
philip Horst
evan Hughes
Kyle Ketelsen
Keith Miller
James Morris
Maurizio Muraro
Rod nelman
evgeny nikitin
Daniel okulitch
eric owens
Iain paterson
David pittsinger
John Relyea
Mark Rucker 
tyler Simpson
Donovan Singletary
philip Skinner
nicolas testé
Alexander tsymbalyuk
Alfred Walker
Jeffrey Wells

BA SSE S
Raymond Aceto
Ilya Bannik
Richard Bernstein
Jordan Bisch
Rúni Brattaberg
Kevin Burdette
philip Cokorinos
paul Corona
Kirk eichelberger
Ferruccio Furlanetto
Andrew Gangestad

oren Gradus
eric Halfvarson
enrico Giuseppe Iori
Christopher Job
eric Jordan
Mika Kares
Štefan Kocán
Hans-peter König
Ievgen orlov
René pape
Robert pomakov
Samuel Ramey
Julien Robbins
Morris Robinson
Matthew Rose
erwin Schrott
Miklós Sebestyén
Franz-Josef Selig
David Soar
Christophoros 

Stamboglis
Giorgio Surian
nicola ulivieri
Harold Wilson
Kwangchul Youn

CONDUC TORS
Yves Abel
Thomas Adès
Alain Altinoglu
Marco Armiliato
Maurizio Benini
Harry Bicket
Semyon Bychkov
Daniele Callegari
Dan ettinger
Asher Fisch
edward Gardner
Daniele Gatti
louis langrée
Fabio luisi
lorin Maazel
Ion Marin
Michele Mariotti
Yannick nézet-Séguin
David Robertson

GUES T AR T IS T S
Rob Besserer 
Yefim Bronfman
evgeny Kissin
Maria Kowroski
Michael lewis 
James patterson

MEMBERS OF 
THE l INDEMANN 
YOUNG AR T IS T 
DE VElOPMENT 
PROGR AM
Mario Chang
Wallis Giunta
Ryan Speedo Green
evan Hughes
Anthony Kalil
Alexey lavrov
Alexander lewis
Alexandra naumenko
nimrod David pfeffer
luthando Qave
emalie Savoy
Andrew Stenson
Renée tatum
Bryan Wagorn
lei Xu

2012–13 Artist Roster
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The Financial Results
2012–13
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2013 unrestricted operating Revenues

2013 operating expenses

 box office

 Contributions 
including net assets 
released from 
restrictions

 hd theatrical  
(incl. PbS and  
other tV deals)

 other media 

 investment return— 
authorized Spending 
amount 

 other income 

 Performances

 new Productions

 hd theatrical 
(incl. revenue 
sharing)

 other media

 other Presentations, 
principally ballet

 other expenses 61.9%

 6.7%

 6.7%

 3.7%

 2.2% 

18.8%

27.7%

48.7%

 9.9%

 .7%

 6.8%

 6.2%

note: The Metropolitan opera fiscal year runs from August 1 to July 31.
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operating revenues, including contributions, bequests, and other development revenues allocated for 
operations in Fiscal Year 2013 totaled $324.0 million, compared to $320.5 million in Fiscal Year 2012. 
operating revenues include box office revenues from the new York season, media revenues, revenues from 
presentations, amounts drawn from the Met’s endowment, and contributions and bequests (including 
net assets released from restrictions). opera box office revenues totaled $89.3 million in FY13, compared 
to $94.4 million in FY12. Media revenues were $34.5 million in FY13, compared to $33.3 million in FY12. 
presentation revenue was $7.5 million in FY13, compared to $8.0 million in FY12. Authorized spending from 
the Met’s endowment and reserves included in operating revenues totaled approximately $21.9 million in both 
FY13 and FY12.

Contributions, bequests, and other development revenues allocated for operations totaled $157.9 million 
in FY13 and $150.3 million in FY12. Individual support continues to be the largest source of contributions, 
amounting to $136.5 million and $126.3 million in FY13 and FY12, respectively. Foundation and corporate 
support totaled $20.9 million in FY13 compared to $23.3 million in FY12. Government agencies, including 
the national endowment for the Arts, the new York State Council on the Arts, and the new York City 
Department of Cultural Affairs, contributed a total of $0.5 million and $0.7 million in FY13 and FY12, 
respectively. Fundraising expenses totaled $15.4 million, or 9.7% of operating contributions in FY13, 
compared to $15.3 million or 10.2% of operating contributions in FY12. Contributions for capital were 
$13.3 million in FY13, an increase of $9.3 million over the $4 million raised in FY12.

total operating expenses including fundraising expenses were $326.8 million in FY13, an increase 
of $6.3 million or 2.0% from $320.5 million in FY12. total compensation and benefits in FY13 was 
$253.5 million, compared to $245.1 million in FY12. The Association ended FY13 with an operating budget 
deficit of $2.8 million.

net assets were $226 million at the end of FY13 and $163.9 million at the end of FY12. The improvement  
was largely attributable to the effect of higher interest rates and market performance on the Met’s defined 
benefit pension plan, which reduced the unfunded liability from $128.4 million to $68.4 million. Investment 
earnings of the Met’s endowment exceeded the authorized spending withdrawal by $13.2 million. temporarily 
restricted net assets declined, as funds released from for operations exceeded new contributions and bequests 
for operations by about $31.3 million; in FY12, there was a decline of $30.6 million. In December 2012, the 
Met issued $100 million in 30-year taxable bonds. The funds were used to refinance existing debts over the 
long-term at historically low interest rates, and to create working capital funds for operations and capital 
projects. 
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FY2004 FY2005 FY2006 FY2007 FY2008 FY2009 FY2010 FY2011 FY2012 FY2013

Opera box office income 79.3        82.2        82.7        90.1        93.5        93.1        92.1        94.7        94.4        89.3        

Percent of box office capacity 79% 79% 77% 84% 88% 88% 83% 79% 78% 69%

Other income 45.2        47.3        45.4        48.4        49.4        60.7        71.8        89.2        75.8        76.8        

Total earned income 124.5     129.5     128.1     138.5     142.9     153.8     163.9     183.9     170.2     166.1     

Compensation and employee benefits 156.2      167.7      177.7      194.9      207.5      215.2      231.1      248.6      245.1      253.5      

Other expenses 36.9        42.7        43.9        58.7        67.2        67.2        68.0        75.5        75.4        73.3        

Total expenses 193.1     210.4     221.6     253.6     274.7     282.4     299.1     324.1     320.5     326.8     

Gross before Unrestricted Contributions (68.6)       (80.9)       (93.5)       (115.1)     (131.8)     (128.6)     (135.2)     (140.2)     (150.3)     (160.7)     
(including net assets released from restrictions)

Unrestricted Contributions 68.6       80.1       89.0       114.1     119.6     127.3     133.5     140.8     150.3     157.9     
(including net assets released from restrictions)

Excess (deficiency) of operating revenues $0.0 ($0.8) ($4.5) ($1.0) ($12.2) ($1.3) ($1.7) $0.6 ($0.0) ($2.8)
over expenses

Percent of expenses covered by contributions 36% 38% 40% 45% 44% 45% 45% 43% 47% 48%

New York Season Opera Performances 222 226 228 223 219 216 225 222 213 207

Other Opera Performances (parks, tours, concerts) 17 13 18 23 6 9 15 25 9 11

Presentations 77 79 64 75 64 64 65 72 64 64

Total Performances 316 318 310 321 289 289 305 319 286 282
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METROPOLITAN OPERA ASSOCIATION, INC. 

Consolidated Financial Statements 

July 31, 2013 and 2012 

(With Independent Auditors’ Report Thereon) 



20 financials

Independent Auditors’ Report 

The Board of Managing Directors 
Metropolitan Opera Association, Inc.: 

We have audited the accompanying consolidated financial statements of the Metropolitan Opera 
Association, Inc., which comprise the consolidated balance sheets as of July 31, 2013 and 2012, and the 
related consolidated statements of activities, and cash flows for the years then ended, and the related notes 
to the consolidated financial statements. 

Management’s Responsibility for the Financial Statements 

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these consolidated financial 
statements in accordance with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles; this includes the design, 
implementation, and maintenance of internal control relevant to the preparation and fair presentation of 
consolidated financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 

Auditors’ Responsibility 

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated financial statements based on our audits.
We conducted our audits in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of 
America. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about 
whether the consolidated financial statements are free from material misstatement.  

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the 
consolidated financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditors’ judgment, including the 
assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether due to 
fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to the 
organization’s preparation and fair presentation of the consolidated financial statements in order to design 
audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion 
on the effectiveness of the organization’s internal control. Accordingly, we express no such opinion. An 
audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of 
significant accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the 
consolidated financial statements.  

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our 
audit opinion. 

Opinion

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements referred to above present fairly in all material 
respects, the financial position of the Metropolitan Opera Association, Inc. as of July 31, 2013 and 2012, 
and the changes in its net assets and its cash flows for the years then ended in accordance with 
U.S. generally accepted accounting principles. 

December 20, 2013 

KPMG LLP
345 Park Avenue  
New York, NY 10154-0102

KPMG LLP is a Delaware limited liability partnership,
the U.S. member firm of KPMG International Cooperative
(“KPMG International”), a Swiss entity.
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METROPOLITAN OPERA ASSOCIATION, INC.

Consolidated Balance Sheets

July 31, 2013 and 2012

(In thousands)

Assets 2013 2012

Cash and cash equivalents $ 1,812   3,980   
Accounts receivable 3,812   3,234   
Contributions receivable, net (notes 2 and 10) 82,498   81,290   
Prepaid production and telecast costs 10,510   17,484   
Other assets 6,505   5,529   
Investments (notes 3 and 8) 302,832   262,607   
Interests in split-interest agreements (note 3) 20,324   18,798   
Property and equipment, net (note 4) 45,831   42,079   

Total assets $ 474,124   435,001   

Liabilities and Net Assets

Liabilities:
Accounts payable and accrued expenses $ 22,554   23,485   
Borrowings under line of credit (note 5) —    25,000   
Deferred revenue 40,180   42,477   
Long-term debt (note 5) 100,000   33,654   
Unfunded accumulated benefit obligation (note 6) 68,352   128,369   
Other liabilities (note 5) 17,058   18,117   

Total liabilities 248,144   271,102   

Net assets (notes 7 and 8):
Unrestricted (accumulated deficit):

Unfunded accumulated benefit obligation (68,352)  (128,369)  
Accumulated losses on endowment funds (1,160)  (10,317)  
Fair value of interest rate swap —    (2,613)  
Other (49,481)  (49,305)  

Total accumulated deficit – unrestricted (118,993)  (190,604)  

Temporarily restricted 120,245   135,014   
Permanently restricted 224,728   219,489   

Total net assets 225,980   163,899   
Total liabilities and net assets $ 474,124   435,001   

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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2013 2012

Change in unrestricted net assets:
Operating revenues:

Contributions and bequests $ 99,863   90,851   
Net assets released from restrictions 57,989   59,487   

157,852   150,338   
Opera activities:

Box office and tours 89,771   94,795   
Media revenues 34,534   33,295   
Other revenues 4,602   5,022   

Ballet and other presentations 7,531   7,961   
Investment return and bequest authorized spending amount (note 3) 21,854   21,920   
Other income (note 3) 7,902   7,231   

Total 324,046   320,562   

Operating expenses:
Opera activities:

Performances 202,451   195,593   
Media 33,902   33,463   
New productions 21,788   24,348   
Other expenses 8,652   8,277   

Ballet and other presentations 7,193   7,615   
Opera House 18,730   18,713   
General management (note 5) 18,747   17,290   
Fund-raising expenses 15,351   15,263   

Total 326,814   320,562   

(Deficiency) excess of operating revenues over expenses (2,768)  —    

Nonoperating:
Capital contributions 1,300   500   
Investment return greater (less) than spending amount (note 3) 7,774   (3,238)  
Bequests received greater than amounts appropriated for operations —    1,026   
Pension plan changes other than net periodic cost (note 6) 65,746   (54,160)  
Change in value of interests in split-interest agreements 392   (444)  
Change in fair value of interest rate swap (note 5) 231   (813)  
Other (1,064)  (128)  

Increase (decrease) in unrestricted net assets 71,611   (57,257)  

Change in temporarily restricted net assets:
Contributions and bequests for operations 26,697   28,864   
Contributions and bequests for capital 13,200   4,000   
Investment return, net (note 3) 1,618   (13,616)  
Change in value of interests in split-interest agreements 1,660   2,126   
Other 1,245   —    
Net assets released from restrictions:

For operations (57,989)  (59,487)  
For capital (1,200)  (500)  

Decrease in temporarily restricted net assets (14,769)  (38,613)  

Change in permanently restricted net assets:
Endowment contributions 1,288   4,134   
Investment return, net (note 3) 3,779   (1,558)  
Change in value of interests in split-interest agreements 172   278   

Increase in permanently restricted net assets 5,239   2,854   

Change in net assets 62,081   (93,016)  

Net assets:
Beginning of year 163,899   256,915   
End of year $ 225,980   163,899   

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.

METROPOLITAN OPERA ASSOCIATION, INC.
Consolidated Statements of Activities
Years ended July 31, 2013 and 2012

(In thousands)
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METROPOLITAN OPERA ASSOCIATION, INC.

Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows

Years ended July 31, 2013 and 2012

(In thousands)

2013 2012

Cash flows from operating activities:
Change in net assets $ 62,081   (93,016)  
Adjustments to reconcile change in net assets to net cash used in

operating activities:
Depreciation and amortization 4,400   4,363   
Pension plan changes other than net periodic cost (65,746)  54,160   
Net gains on investments (32,300)  (868)  
Fair value of interest rate swap (231)  813   
Donated securities —    (2,593)  
Contributions permanently restricted for endowment (1,288)  (4,134)  
Contributions restricted for investments in property and

equipment (13,300)  (4,000)  
Changes in operating assets and liabilities:

Accounts receivable (578)  1,203   
Contributions receivable, net (1,067)  26,883   
Prepaid production and other assets 6,966   (1,201)  
Interests in split-interest agreements (1,526)  (2,248)  
Accounts payable, accrued expenses, and other liabilities 5,403   (2,154)  
Deferred revenue (2,297)  (3,894)  

Net cash used in operating activities (39,483)  (26,686)  

Cash flows from investing activities:
Acquisition of property and equipment (8,152)  (4,640)  
(Decrease) increase in accounts payable and accrued expenses related to

construction in progress (1,433)  118   
Purchases of investments (142,844)  (157,500)  
Proceeds from sale of investments 134,919   180,975   

Net cash (used in) provided by investing activities (17,510)  18,953   

Cash flows from financing activities:
Borrowings under line of credit 26,700   31,000   
Repayments of line of credit (51,700)  (24,000)  
Borrowings on long-term debt 100,000   —
Repayment on long-term debt (33,654)  (1,243)  
Bond issuance costs (968)  —
Cash contributions for permanently restricted endowment 3,175   506   
Cash received for contributions restricted for investments in

property and equipment 11,272   2,850   

Net cash provided by financing activities 54,825   9,113   

Net (decrease) increase in cash and cash equivalents (2,168)  1,380   

Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of year 3,980   2,600   
Cash and cash equivalents, end of year $ 1,812   3,980   

Supplemental information:
Cash paid for interest $ 608   1,579   

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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METROPOLITAN OPERA ASSOCIATION, INC. 

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements 

July 31, 2013 and 2012 

  (Continued) 

(1) Organization, Financial Statement Presentation, and Summary of Significant Accounting Policies 

Organization 

The Metropolitan Opera Association, Inc. (the Met) is a not-for-profit membership corporation 
incorporated in the State of New York, and organized for the primary purpose of sustaining, encouraging, 
and promoting musical art, and educating the general public about music, particularly opera. 

The Met has a wholly owned for-profit subsidiary, Impresario, LLC, which has developed and licensed 
box office and development software to other not-for-profit organizations. The consolidated financial 
statements also include the Metropolitan Opera Endowment Trust (the Trust). The Trust is governed by a 
Trust Committee. Vacancies on the Trust Committee, which governs the Trust, are filled by the Met’s 
appointment. 

Financial Statement Presentation 

The consolidated financial statements of the Met are presented using the accrual basis of accounting. All 
intercompany balances and transactions have been eliminated in consolidation. 

(a) Net Asset Classifications 

The Met’s consolidated financial statements present information regarding its financial position and 
changes in net assets in three classes of net assets: unrestricted, temporarily restricted, and 
permanently restricted. 

 Unrestricted – Includes all resources over which the Board of Managing Directors has 
discretionary control. 

 Temporarily restricted – Includes net assets subject to donor imposed restrictions that permit 
the Met to expend the assets as specified. The restrictions are satisfied either by the passage of 
time or by actions of the Met in accordance with those specified by the donor. Restricted 
contributions and investment income from endowment funds whose restrictions are met in the 
same reporting period are reported as increases in unrestricted net assets. To the extent not 
satisfied in the same period, the Met reports contributions that must be used to acquire 
property and equipment as temporarily restricted net assets. When the restriction has been 
satisfied and the acquired assets are placed in service, the temporarily restricted net assets are 
reclassified to unrestricted net assets. The Met follows the provisions of Accounting Standards 
Codification (ASC) 958, Section 205-45, Classification of Donor Restricted Endowment 
Funds Subject to UPMIFA, which requires the portion of a donor restricted endowment fund 
that is not classified as permanently restricted to be classified as temporarily restricted net 
assets until appropriated for expenditure in a manner consistent with the standard of prudence 
prescribed by New York Prudent Management of Institutional Funds Act (NYPMIFA). 

 Permanently restricted – Includes net assets subject to donor imposed restrictions that stipulate 
that the original contribution be maintained permanently, but permits the Met to expend part or 
all of the income, and in some cases all or part of the appreciation, derived for either specified 
or unrestricted purposes. In addition, permanently restricted net assets include certain gifts that 
require the use of a spending rate.
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METROPOLITAN OPERA ASSOCIATION, INC. 

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements 

July 31, 2013 and 2012 

  (Continued) 

(b) Presentation of Revenues and Expenses 

The following is an explanation of certain revenue and expense categories presented in the 
consolidated statements of activities: 

 Opera activities – Revenues and expenses directly related to the production and presentation of 
opera performances. 

 Ballet and other presentations – Revenues and expenses directly related to the presentation of 
attractions other than opera, where the Met either presents the attractions or licenses the 
Metropolitan Opera House at Lincoln Center (the Opera House) to third parties. 

 Opera House – Expenses directly related to managing and operating the Opera House. The 
majority of Opera House expenses relates to program activities. 

 General management – Expenses related to the overall operation of the Met that are not related 
to any single program or other supporting service. 

 Fund-raising – Expenses related to the solicitation of contributions to the Met. 

Summary of Significant Accounting Policies 

The following is a summary of significant accounting policies: 

(a) Cash Equivalents and Cash Flows 

Cash equivalents include short-term investments purchased with original maturities of three months 
or less, except for those cash equivalents held for long-term investment purposes. Contributions of 
donated financial assets that are not restricted for long-term purposes and are sold immediately are 
reported as operating activities in the statements of cash flows. Otherwise, such amounts are reported 
as investing or financing activities. 

(b) Fair Value Measurements 

Fair value is defined as the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability 
in an orderly transaction between market participants at the measurement date. Inputs to the 
valuation techniques used to measure fair value are prioritized by giving the highest priority to 
unadjusted quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities (Level l measurements) 
and the lowest priority to measurements involving significant unobservable inputs (Level 3 
measurements). 

The three levels of the fair value hierarchy are as follows: 

Level 1 Inputs that reflect unadjusted quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or 
liabilities that the Met has the ability to access at the measurement date 

Level 2 Inputs other than quoted prices included in Level 1 that are observable for the asset or 
liability either directly or indirectly, including inputs in markets that are not considered 
to be active and investment funds that are redeemable at or near the balance sheet date 
(within 90 days). 
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METROPOLITAN OPERA ASSOCIATION, INC. 

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements 

July 31, 2013 and 2012 

  (Continued) 

Level 3 Inputs that are unobservable and investment funds that are not redeemable at or near the 
balance sheet date 

A financial instrument’s level within the fair value hierarchy is based on the lowest level of any input 
that is significant to the fair value measurement. The fair value of the Met’s investments is presented 
in note 3. The carrying value of the Met’s short-term financial instruments approximates fair value 
because of their short maturity. The carrying value of contributions receivable approximates their 
fair value. The carrying amount of annuity and other split-interest obligations approximates fair 
value because these instruments are recorded at the estimated net present value of future cash flows. 
These estimated fair values, however, involves unobservable inputs considered to be Level 3 in the 
fair value hierarchy. At July 31, 2013, the fair value of long-term debt is approximately $92.3 
million. The estimated fair value of the Met’s long-term debt is based on the discounted future cash 
payments to be made for each issue. The discount used approximates current market rates for loans 
of similar maturities and credit quality and is considered Level 2 in the fair value hierarchy.  

(c) Investments 

Investments in marketable equity securities in managed accounts and debt securities, and exchange 
traded mutual funds, are reported at fair value based on quoted market prices. 

The fair value of the Met’s interest in common trusts, business trusts, and other alternative 
investments is reported at net asset value. The Met reviews and evaluates the values provided by the 
investment managers and agrees with the valuation methods and assumptions used in determining 
the net asset values of these investments. These estimated fair values may differ significantly from 
the values that would have been used had a ready market for these securities existed. The 
classification of investments in the fair value hierarchy is not necessarily an indication of the risks, 
liquidity, or degree of difficulty in estimating the fair value of each investment’s underlying assets 
and liabilities. 

(d) Property, Equipment, and Depreciation 

Property and equipment including leasehold improvements are carried at cost, less accumulated 
depreciation or amortization. Depreciation and amortization are recorded as operating expenses 
using the straight-line method based on estimated useful lives of 5 to 30 years. 

(e) Income Taxes 

The Met and the Trust are exempt from federal income taxes under Section 501(c)(3) of the Internal 
Revenue Code. Impresario, LLC is considered a disregarded entity for tax purposes. Management 
believes that the Met will continue to be exempt from taxes and that the Met has taken no significant 
uncertain tax positions. 

(f) Split-Interest Agreements 

The Met receives contributions in the form of charitable gift annuities, under which the Met agrees to 
pay the donor or the donor’s designee a fixed amount for a period of time. The obligation is recorded 
at its present value in other liabilities. The difference between the assets received and the obligation 
is reported as unrestricted contribution revenue. 
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The Met has interests in charitable remainder and other trusts, and remainder interests in a pooled 
income fund held by a third-party trustee. These interests are reported at their present value and, 
when received, are included in temporarily or permanently restricted contribution revenue, 
depending on donor restrictions. (Charitable gift annuities, other charitable remainder trusts and 
pooled income funds are discounted based on the rate at the time of the gift.) 

(g) Box Office, Tour Revenues, and Media Revenues 

Ticket sales are recognized in the consolidated statements of activities as box office revenue on a 
specific performance basis. Advance ticket sales, representing the receipt of payments for ticket sales 
for the next opera season, are reported as deferred revenue in the consolidated balance sheets. Tour 
revenue is recognized in the year the tour takes place. Media revenue is recognized in the year the 
showing takes place. 

(h) Operating Expenses 

In accordance with policies generally followed by performing arts organizations, costumes and 
scenery costs for recurring productions are charged to expense when incurred. Production costs 
(labor and materials) relating to future new productions are deferred until the year in which the 
production is first presented. 

Marketing expenses for the Met’s programs are charged to expense as incurred, except for direct 
response marketing and other expenses incurred related to the following season when the related 
revenues are recognized. Such deferred costs were approximately $882,000 and $1.15 million at 
July 31, 2013 and 2012, respectively. Total marketing expenses recognized were $15.2 million and 
$14.6 million in 2013 and 2012, respectively. Such amounts, which represent management and 
general activities, are included in performance expense in the accompanying consolidated statements 
of activities. 

On occasion, the Met provides tickets for fund-raising and media purposes at no cost. The value of 
these tickets is approximately $1,073,000 and $1,104,000 in 2013 and 2012, respectively, and 
appears in both revenue and expenses in the accompanying consolidated statements of activities. The 
revenue is included as part of box office revenue; the expenses appear as performance, media, or 
fund-raising expenses. 

(i) Contributions and Bequests 

Contributions and unconditional promises to give are reported as revenues in the period they are 
received or made, respectively. Contributed securities are recorded at fair value as of the date of the 
contribution. Unconditional bequests (donations received under terms of a will) are reported as 
revenues when notification of the bequest is received and the amount is reasonably determinable and 
the probate court declares the will valid. Contributions to be received after one year are discounted to 
present value of future cash flows at a risk-adjusted rate, which is considered Level 3 in the fair 
value hierarchy. Amortization of the discount is recorded as additional contribution revenue in 
accordance with the donor imposed restrictions, if any, on the contributions. 

In fiscal 2010, the Met established the Opera Company Fund (the Fund) with a $110 million goal as 
part of a larger fundraising campaign. Through July 31, 2013, the Met has raised $94.4 million under 
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the Opera Fund campaign. Contributions to the Fund are recognized as unrestricted revenue up to a 
cumulative limit each year, as predetermined by the Met’s Board of Managing Directors and 
communicated to donors: $15.0 million through 2010; $38.75 million through 2011; $62.5 million 
through 2012; $86.25 million through 2013; and $110 million through 2014. Cumulative gifts to the 
Fund in excess of these limits, if any, will be recognized as temporarily restricted net assets and 
released as the limits permit. 

Fundraising expenses reflected in the accompanying consolidated statements of activities of $15.4 
million and $15.3 million have been incurred to raise contributions and bequests, including 
temporarily and permanently restricted contributions and bequests, totaling $141 million and $127.8 
million in 2013 and 2012, respectively. 

(j) Derivative Instruments 

The Met reports all derivative financial instruments at fair value. Changes in the fair value of 
derivative instruments are recognized as a change in net assets in the period of change. The Met 
utilized an interest rate-related derivative instrument to manage its exposure on adjustable rate 
long-term debt, as more fully discussed in note 5 to the consolidated financial statements. The fair 
value of the derivative instrument held was based upon a value provided by an investment banking 
institution.

(k) Measure of Operations 

The Met’s excess (deficiency) of operating revenues over operating expenses (the Measure of 
Operations) includes all unrestricted operating revenues and expenses that are an integral part of its 
programs and supporting activities, including unrestricted contributions and net assets released from 
donor restrictions to support its operating activities. The Measure of Operations also includes 
distributions from the endowment made in accordance with the Met’s spending policy. The Measure 
of Operations excludes net gains and losses on the endowment, which exceed or are less than the 
distribution determined by the spending policy, retirement plan adjustments, change in the fair value 
of the interest rate swap, capital contributions, adjustments to the discount on multi-year pledges 
related to the Opera fund, changes in the value of split-interest agreements, and nonrecurring 
activities. The Measure of Operations also excludes unrestricted bequests in excess of the amount 
required to fund approved budgeted costs and expenditures. In 2013 and 2012, bequests appropriated 
for operations from prior year bequests were $1,000,000 and $1,104,000, respectively and is 
included in investment return and bequests authorized spending amount. 

(l) Use of Estimates 

The preparation of the consolidated financial statements in conformity with accounting principles 
generally accepted in the United States of America requires management to make estimates and 
assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosures at the date of the 
consolidated financial statements and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the 
reporting period. Actual results could differ from those estimates. Significant estimates and 
assumptions include allowances for uncollectible receivables, the present value of multi-year 
contributions receivables, the valuation of investments, actuarial assumptions, valuation of interest 
rate swap, and the allocation of expenses to functional classifications. 
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(m) Risks and Uncertainties 

The Met invests in various types of investment securities. Investment securities are exposed to 
various risks, such as interest rate, market, and credit risks. Due to the level of risk associated with 
certain investment securities, it is at least reasonably possible that changes in the values of 
investment securities will occur in the near term and that such changes could materially affect the 
amounts reported in the consolidated financial statements. 

(n) Reclassifications 

Certain reclassifications have been made to the prior year consolidated financial statements to 
conform to the current year presentation. 

(2) Contributions Receivable 

Contributions receivable as of July 31 are scheduled to be collected as follows (in thousands): 

2013 2012

Within one year $ 40,137   38,568   
One to five years 38,619   34,474   
More than five years 7,364   12,329   

Total 86,120   85,371   

Less allowance for uncollectibility (356)  (362)  
Less discount to present value (average discount rate used

is 2.18% and 1.69% for 2013 and 2012, respectively) (3,266)  (3,719)  
$ 82,498   81,290   

In 2013 and 2012, contributions receivable include approximately $44.4 million and $48.1 million, 
respectively, due from ten donors. 
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(3) Investments 

Investments consist of the following as of July 31 (in thousands): 

2013 2012

Endowment investments:
Cash equivalents and short-term investments $ 19,321   11,881   
Fixed income 47,130   62,196   
U.S. equities 77,568   64,917   
Global equities 46,717   31,045   
Other alternative investment strategies 62,561   66,025   

253,297   236,064   

Other investments:
Cash equivalents and short-term investments 14,951   13,107   
Fixed income 24,455   4,119   
U.S. equities 4,521   1,996   
Global equities 1,029   569   
Balanced mutual funds 2,986   2,874   
Alternative investments 1,593   3,878   

49,535   26,543   
$ 302,832   262,607   

Investment activity is summarized below for the years ended July 31, 2013 and 2012 (in thousands): 

2013 2012

Investments, beginning of year $ 262,607   282,621   

Investment return:
Interest and dividends 4,927   3,542   
Net gains 32,300   868   
Less investment expenses (1,160)  (617)  

Investment return 36,067   3,793   

Gifts and other additions 40,473   9,934   
Amounts utilized for operations:

Investment return and bequest authorized spending amount (21,854)  (21,920)  
Transfers to fund Save the Met Broadcasts (6,800)  (6,800)  
Other transfers (7,661)  (5,021)  

Investments, end of year $ 302,832   262,607   
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Investment return is presented in the statement of activities as follows for the years ended July 31 (in 
thousands): 

2013 2012

Investment return and bequest authorized spending amount $ 21,854   21,920   
Other investment return included in other income

or change in value of split-interest agreements 1,042   285   
Investment return greater (less) than authorized spending

amount 13,171   (18,412)  
Investment return $ 36,067   3,793   

At July 31, 2013, the Met had outstanding commitments, net of investments already made, to invest in a 
private equity fund totaling $296,000. 

The following represents management’s estimate of the remaining life of the (nonredeemable) limited 
partnerships held in the Met’s investment portfolio at July 31, 2013 and 2012 (in thousands): 

2013 2012

1–5 years $ 24,053   21,020   
6–12 years 4,323   4,689   

$ 28,376   25,709   

The redeemable alternative investment funds included in the Met’s investment portfolio at July 31, 2013 
and 2012 are redeemable based on the following terms and conditions (in thousands): 

2013 2012

Daily redemption with 1 day’s notice $ —    6,252   
Monthly redemption with 6–60 days’ notice 21,227   14,582   
Quarterly redemption with 45–90 days’ notice 30,011   22,255   
Quarterly redemption (subject to lock-up) 7,037   11,023   
Annual redemption with 45–90 days’ notice 12,292   18,026   

$ 70,567   72,138   
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The following tables present the fair value hierarchy of assets that are measured at fair value on a recurring 
basis at July 31, 2013 and 2012 (in thousands): 

2013 Total Level 1 Level 2 Level 3

Investments:
Cash equivalents and short-term

investments $ 34,272  34,272  — —
Fixed income:

Common trust fund 1,007  1,007  — —
Mutual fund 70,496  70,496  — —
U.S. government obligations 82  82  — —

U.S. equities:
Managed accounts 67,567  67,567  — —
Mutual funds 12,571  12,571  — —
Common trust funds 1,951  1,951  — —

Global equities:
Business trusts 8,434  —  8,434  —
Common trust funds 546  546  — —
Mutual funds 12,297  12,297  — —
Limited liability company 5,203  —  5,203  —
Limited partnership 21,266  — —  21,266  

Balanced mutual funds 2,986  2,986  — —
Alternative investments:

Inflation-sensitive – common
trust fund 7,590  —  7,590  —

Multi-strategy – limited
partnerships 18,815  —  11,350  7,465  

Long/short equity – limited
partnerships 18,661  —  18,661  —

Distressed securities – limited
partnerships 14,651  — —  14,651  

Private equity 4,323  — —  4,323  
Real estate investment trust 114  114  — —

$ 302,832  203,889  51,238  47,705  

Interests in split-interest agreements $ 20,324  —  —  20,324  
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2012 Total Level 1 Level 2 Level 3

Investments:
Cash equivalents and short-term

investments $ 24,988  24,988  — —
Fixed income:

Common trust fund 7,292  1,040  6,252  —
Mutual fund 58,939  58,939  — —
U.S. government obligations 84  84  — —

U.S. equities:
Managed accounts 56,556  56,556  — —
Mutual funds 9,976  9,976  — —
Common trust funds 381  381  — —

Global equities:
Business trusts 6,662  —  6,662  —
Common trust funds 569  569  — —
Mutual funds 7,932  7,932  — —
Limited partnership 16,451  — —  16,451  

Balanced mutual funds 2,874  2,874  — —
Alternative investments:

Inflation-sensitive – common
trust fund 7,920  —  7,920  —

Multi-strategy – limited
partnerships 19,133  — —  19,133  

Long/short equity – limited
partnerships 22,255  —  22,255  —

Distressed securities – limited
partnerships 14,485  — —  14,485  

Private equity 4,689  — —  4,689  
Real estate investment trust 119  119  — —
Other real estate 1,302  — —  1,302  

$ 262,607  163,458  43,089  56,060  

Interests in split-interest agreements $ 18,798  —  —  18,798  
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The following table presents the Met’s activity for investments measured at fair value on a recurring basis 
using significant unobservable inputs (Level 3) at July 31 (in thousands): 

2013
Distressed Global Private Other real

Multi-strategy securities equities equity estate Total

Beginning balance $ 19,133  14,485  16,451  4,689  1,302  56,060  
Net appreciation

in fair value 1,550  2,191  5,108  236  —  9,085  
Purchases 233  — — — —  233  
Redemptions (13,451) (2,025) (293) (602) (1,302) (17,673) 

Ending balance $ 7,465  14,651  21,266  4,323  —  47,705  

2012
Distressed Global Private Other real

Multi-strategy securities equities equity estate Total

Beginning balance $ 27,397  14,937  —  2,751  1,274  46,359  
Net (depreciation) appreciation

in fair value (3,285) 340  1,451  (389) 28  (1,855) 
Purchases — —  15,000  2,596  —  17,596  
Redemptions (4,979) (792) —  (269) —  (6,040) 

Ending balance $ 19,133  14,485  16,451  4,689  1,302  56,060  

Interests in split-interest agreements increased by new agreements of $333,000, decreased by terminated 
agreements of approximately $469,000 and increased by net investment gains of $1,662,000. 

Information with respect to investment strategies and redemption terms for alternative investments, 
including common trust funds and business trusts, (referred to as alternative investments) in 2013 is as 
follows:

Global equities business trust: comprised of an international equity investment that permits monthly 
redemptions. 

Global equities – limited liability company: This investment objective is to achieve long-term capital 
appreciation by investing in publicly traded equity, fixed income, and other types of securities including 
common stocks, securities convertible into common stock, and rights and warrants to purchase common 
stock, that are trading at what the investment manager believes to be a discount to their net asset value. 
Redemptions are allowed monthly with 30 days prior written notice. 

Global equities – limited partnership: This investment’s objective is to achieve compound annual long-
term returns that are superior to the Morgan Stanley World Cap Index; however, it is not managed to 
mirror the geographic or industry composition of any index. The initial commitment is nonredeemable for 
sixty months expiring July 31, 2016. 

Inflation-sensitive – common trust fund: This fund invests in areas that seek to offer strong relative 
performance against inflation. Redemption is allowed monthly. 
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Multi-strategy – limited partnerships: One multi-strategy fund seeks to deliver superior risk adjusted 
returns over a multi-year period with an absolute return orientation. Redemptions are available without fees 
on three-year anniversary dates. These redemptions are being initiated by the Met as the anniversary dates 
arise. Another fund’s goal is to achieve annual returns superior to long-term equity market returns with low 
beta and low volatility. Redemption is allowed annually. A full redemption has been requested. The 
remaining investment includes only illiquid side pocket investments that are redeemable as they are fully 
monetized. A third investment is a multi-strategy fund with an event driven focus that seeks to exploit 
situations in which announced or anticipated events create opportunities to invest in securities and other 
financial instruments at a discount to their exit values.   Redemptions are allowed quarterly with 65 days 
prior written notice. 

Long/short equity – limited partnerships: The long/short hedge fund seeks appreciation through 
investments in a number of long/short equity positions. Redemptions are available at certain periods during 
the year.  

Distressed securities – limited partnerships: Seeks to achieve superior risk-adjusted returns over time 
primarily through investment opportunities that are generated by the various phases of the credit cycles. 
One fund is in the stage of making quarterly distributions as investments are liquidated. The other 
distressed fund provides for annual redemptions. 

Private equity: includes investments that are focused exclusively on the financial services sector and funds 
that are in liquidation status via special purpose vehicles. In 2012, an investment was added whose purpose 
is to make capital investments by investing primarily in companies related to China, Hong Kong, or 
Taiwan. Redemptions are issued periodically as determined by the manager. 

The Met’s other real estate investment in 2012 included a real estate property held by the Met for 
investment purposes. During the year ended July 31, 2013, the property was sold for $1.3 million. 
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(4) Property and Equipment 

Property and equipment as of July 31 are summarized by major classification as follows (in thousands): 

2013 2012

Land $ 91   91   
Warehouses 1,773   1,773   
Leasehold improvements 24,225   22,578   
Furniture and fixtures, including information systems

equipment 30,871   29,943   
Theatrical equipment 42,775   41,925   
Construction in progress 6,949   2,222   

106,684   98,532   

Less accumulated depreciation and amortization (60,853)  (56,453)  
$ 45,831   42,079   

(5) Long-Term Debt and Line of Credit 

In 2011, the Met refinanced a bank loan in the amount of $35 million (the Long-term Loan). The principal 
balance as of July 31, 2012 was approximately $33.7 million. The Long-term Loan required collateral 
equal to the principal balance. The interest rate for the term of the Long-term Loan was equal to adjusted 
one-month LIBOR plus 0.76%. Interest expense was approximately $3.0 million and $1.2 million for 2013 
and 2012, respectively, and is included in general management expenses.  

In June 2011, the Met executed an interest rate swap agreement (the Swap) to manage its exposure on its 
adjustable rate debt. The Swap, which would have expired on June 20, 2016, called for the Met to pay the 
counterparty a fixed rate of 3.365% on the outstanding notional amount, which is equal to the outstanding 
principal balance on the underlying loan. The Met had the option to terminate the Swap at any time, in 
whole or in part, subject to a termination fee. The fair value of the Swap was a liability of $2.6 million at 
July 31, 2012 and is considered to be Level 2 in the fair value hierarchy. Such amount is included in other 
liabilities as of July 31, 2012. 

The Met maintains a bank line of credit of $30 million, which is renewable annually in August (the Line of 
Credit). The agreement requires that borrowings under the Line of Credit be reduced to not more than $7.5 
million during any 30-day period. Borrowings under the line bear interest at LIBOR plus 1.50%. The Line 
of Credit is charged a fee of 0.25% on the unborrowed portion of the line. Interest expense related to 
borrowings under the Line of Credit was approximately $432,000 and $404,000 for 2013 and 2012, 
respectively, and is included in general management expenses. At July 31, 2012, the amount outstanding 
under the Line of Credit was $25 million. No balance was outstanding on the Line of Credit as of July 31, 
2013. 
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In December 2012, the Met issued The Metropolitan Opera Taxable Bonds, Series 2012 (the Bonds) in the 
amount of $100 million. The proceeds were used to repay in full the Long-Term Loan and the Line of 
Credit and to terminate the related Swap. In addition, the proceeds fund working capital and operating 
expenses of the Met. Pursuant to various agreements, including an “Indenture of Trust” (the Indenture), the 
Met is obligated to make required payments of principal, sinking fund installments, and interest on the 
Bonds. No collateral is required under the Bonds.  

The Bonds comprise, at par, $20.355 million of fixed rate serial bonds with maturity dates commencing 
October 1, 2014 and annually thereafter until October 1, 2022, and $79.645 million of fixed rate term 
bonds with mandatory sinking fund requirements commencing October 1, 2023 and annually thereafter 
until final maturity on October 1, 2042. The fixed rate serial bonds bear interest at rates ranging from 
1.000% to 3.128% payable each April 1 and October 1, commencing October 1, 2013. The fixed rate term 
bonds bear interest at rates ranging from 3.728% to 4.524%, payable each April 1 and October 1, 
commencing October 1, 2013. The Bonds are subject to optional redemption by the Met prior to maturity 
on any business day. The Bonds are also subject to mandatory redemption pursuant to Sinking Fund 
installments at the redemption price equal to 100% of the principal amount of the Bonds to be redeemed, 
plus accrued interest. The Bonds may also be redeemed prior to maturity at the election of the Met at a 
price equal to the greater of 100% of the principal to be redeemed and the sum of the discounted present 
value of the remaining scheduled payments, plus accrued interest. The discount rate is a treasury rate plus, 
in the case of the bonds maturing October 1, 2014 through October 1, 2022, 20 basis points, and plus, in 
the case of the bonds maturing October 1, 2027, October 1, 2032, and October 1, 2042, 30 basis points.  

In connection with the issuance of the Bonds, bond issuance costs of $968,000 have been deferred and are 
being amortized over the life of the Bonds. Interest expense for the year ended July 31, 2013 was $2.4 
million.

The minimum annual payments for principal and interest related to long-term debt are as follows:  

Principal Interest Total

Year(s) ending July 31:
2014 $ —    5,045   5,045   
2015 2,105   3,920   6,025   
2016 2,130   3,897   6,027   
2017 2,160   3,867   6,027   
2018 2,195   3,830   6,025   
Thereafter 91,410   59,163   150,573   

$ 100,000   79,722   179,722   

(6) Retirement Plans 

The Met has a defined benefit pension plan (the Plan), which covers many of its employees. Benefits are 
based on years of service and employees’ compensation. The Met uses a July 31 measurement date. 
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The Met’s policy is to fund amounts not less than the minimum statutory funding requirements. The Met 
recognizes the Plan’s funded status as an asset or a liability and recognizes the changes in its funded status 
in the year in which the changes occur through a separate line within the change in unrestricted net assets, 
apart from expenses, to the extent those changes are not included in the net periodic cost. 

Financial information regarding the Plan as of July 31 follows (in thousands): 

2013 2012

Change in benefit obligation:
Benefit obligation at beginning of year $ 280,189   220,444   
Service cost 6,410   4,816   
Interest cost 9,580   10,938   
Actuarial (gains) losses (40,702)  54,612   
Benefits paid (11,144)  (10,621)  

Benefit obligation at end of year 244,333   280,189   

Change in plan assets:
Fair value of plan assets at beginning of year 151,820   147,354   
Actual return 25,498   5,015   
Employer contributions 10,268   10,287   
Benefits paid and actual expenses (11,605)  (10,836)  

Fair value of plan assets at end of year 175,981   151,820   
Funded status $ (68,352)  (128,369)  

Components of net periodic cost:
Service cost $ 6,410   4,816   
Interest cost 9,580   10,938   
Expected return on plan assets (12,574)  (12,406)  
Other, net 12,581   8,058   

Net periodic cost $ 15,997   11,406   

Items not yet recognized as a component of net periodic
benefit cost:

Unrecognized prior service cost $ 14,471   18,159   
Unrecognized net loss 72,184   134,242   

Total $ 86,655   152,401   

Weighted average assumptions used to determine net
periodic benefit costs:

Discount rate 3.47% 5.03%
Expected long-term return on plan assets 8.00 8.00

Weighted average assumptions used to determine
benefit obligations:

Discount rate 4.84% 3.47%
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In previous years, the discount rate used to value the liability was based on the Citigroup Pension Discount 
Curve. In 2013, the Met calculated a discount rate using a Dedicated Bond Portfolio, which resulted in a 
discount rate that is approximately 35 basis points higher than the previous method. 

The net loss expected to be recognized as a component of net periodic pension cost over the next twelve 
months is $8,158,000. This includes the amortization of the net loss and the amortization of prior service 
costs.

The accumulated benefit obligation for the Plan at July 31, 2013 and 2012 was $244,333,000 and 
$280,189,000, respectively. 

The Met expects to contribute $12,022,000 to the Plan in fiscal year 2014. Benefit payments, which reflect 
expected future service as appropriate, are expected to be paid as follows (in thousands): 

Amount

Year(s) ending July 31:
2014 $ 12,750   
2015 13,161   
2016 13,838   
2017 14,419   
2018 14,924   
2019–2023 80,124   

The expected long-term rate of return for the Plan’s total assets is based on the Plan’s investment policy. 
The investment policy is to maximize the rate of return on assets with the objective of ensuring a total 
return that will preserve and enhance the principal and provide sufficient liquidity to meet benefit 
obligations. In order to minimize risks, the Plan’s assets are diversified within the fixed income and equity 
portions of the portfolio. The Plan’s weighted average asset allocations at July 31, 2013 and 2012 by asset 
category are as follows: 

Target policy Percentage of plan assets
Asset category allocation 2013 2012

Domestic and international fixed income 0%–40% 25% 23%
Domestic and international equity 0–50 70 77
Alternative assets and private equity 0–25 5 —

Total 100% 100%

A mutual fund with a balanced investment allocation is allocated to the respective asset category in the 
table above. 
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The following table presents the fair value hierarchy of the pension assets that are measured at fair value 
on a recurring basis at July 31, 2013 (in thousands): 

2013 Total Level 1 Level 2 Level 3

Cash equivalents and short-term
investments $ 1,247  1,247  — —

Fixed income – mutual fund 32,805  32,805  — —
U.S. equity:

Managed accounts 35,072  35,072  — —
Mutual fund 3,696  3,696  — —
Common trust fund 13,975  —  13,975  —

Global equity:
Limited partnership 14,816  —  14,816  —
Limited liability company 3,586 —  3,586  —
Business trust 14,399 —  14,399  —

Balanced fund – mutual fund 47,649  47,649  — —
Other alternative investments 8,736  —  8,736  —

Total pension assets $ 175,981  120,469  55,512  —  

The following table presents the fair value hierarchy of the pension assets that are measured at fair value 
on a recurring basis at July 31, 2012 (in thousands): 

2012 Total Level 1 Level 2 Level 3

Cash equivalents and short-term
investments $ 1,746  1,746  — —

Fixed income – mutual fund 9,881  9,881  — —
U.S. equity:

Managed accounts 26,835  26,835  — —
Mutual fund 3,056  3,056  — —
Common trust fund 18,397  —  18,397  —

Global equity:
Limited partnership 12,398  —  12,398  —
Business trust 11,367 —  11,367  —

Balanced fund – mutual fund 67,986  67,986  — —
Other alternative investments 154  — —  154  

Total pension assets $ 151,820  109,504  42,162  154  
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The redeemable alternative investment funds included in the Met’s pension asset portfolio at July 31, 2013 
and 2012 are redeemable based on the following terms and conditions (in thousands): 

2013 2012

Daily redemption with 1 day’s notice $ 13,975   18,397   
Fortnightly redemption with 1 day’s notice 14,816   12,398   
Monthly with 6 days’ notice 14,399   11,367   
Monthly with 30 days’ notice 3,586   —    
Quarterly with 65 days’ notice 8,736   —    

Total $ 55,512   42,162   

The following table presents the Met’s activity for pension assets measured at fair value on a recurring 
basis using significant unobservable inputs (Level 3) at July 31 (in thousands): 

2013 2012

Beginning balance $ 154   201   
Net depreciation in fair value (8)  (47)  
Purchases and redemptions, net (146)  —    
Ending balance $ —    154   

Certain employees not covered by the Plan are covered by multi-employer plans as part of collective 
bargaining agreements. Amounts contributed to these union plans were $5,322,000 and $5,409,000 in 2013 
and 2012, respectively. A summary of these plans follows: 

 The Met participates in a multiemployer union pension plan, the Pension Fund of Local No. 1 of 
I.A.T.S.E. The most recent Pension Protection Act (PPA) zone status as of January 31, 2013 
reports that the plan’s funded percentage is 92.5% and that it is in the green zone. The zone status 
is based on information from the respective unions and, as required by the PPA, is certified by the 
plan’s actuary. Among other factors, plans in the red zone are generally less than 65% funded, 
plans in the yellow zone are less than 80% funded, and plans in the green zone are at least 80% 
funded. The expiration of the collective bargaining agreement requiring contributions to the plan is 
July 31, 2014. The contributions by the Met to the union pension fund were $3,217,000 and 
$3,342,000 for the years ended July 31, 2013 and 2012, respectively.  

 The Met participates in a multiemployer union pension plan, the Pension Fund of Local 764 
I.A.T.S.E. As of the January 1, 2012 valuation, the plan’s funded percentage is 116.3% and it is in 
the green zone. The expiration of the collective bargaining agreement requiring contributions to the 
plan is July 31, 2014. The contributions by the Met to the union pension fund were $471,000 and 
$548,000 for the years ended July 31, 2013 and 2012, respectively.  

 The Met participates in a multiemployer union pension plan, the American Federation of 
Musicians and Employers’ Pension Fund. As of the April 1, 2012 valuation, the plan’s funded 
percentage is 88.5%; however, the plan is considered to be in critical status because the plan is 
projected to have an accumulated funding deficiency for the Plan year ending March 31, 2019. The 
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expiration of the collective bargaining agreement requiring contributions to the plan is July 31, 
2014. The contributions by the Met to the union pension fund were $586,000 and $548,000 for the 
years ended July 31, 2013 and 2012, respectively.  

 Amounts contributed to nine other union plans amounted to $1,048,000 and $971,000 for the years 
ended July 31, 2013 and 2012, respectively. The expiration of the collective bargaining agreements 
requiring contributions is July 31, 2014, with the exception of one agreement that expires 
December 31, 2015.  One agreement expired in 2004 and a new agreement is not in place. 

(7) Net Assets  

(a) Temporarily Restricted Net Assets 

Temporarily restricted net assets are available for specified purposes or are time restricted as of 
July 31 as follows (in thousands): 

2013 2012

Program activities:
A combination of new productions, tours, educational,

or audience outreach programs $ 16,217   3,386   
Bridge/Opera Company fund (future operations) 8,126   28,004   
New productions 23,393   29,546   
Telecasts 10,172   12,266   
Save the Met Broadcasts 12,071   15,149   
Young artists and other specified activities 8,223   11,910   
Golden Horseshoe and other (time restricted) 3,854   3,564   
New York Season (time restricted) 11,056   16,682   

Capital 13,800   4,000   
Other time restrictions including interests in charitable

 trusts and pooled income funds 13,333   10,507   
$ 120,245   135,014   
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(b) Permanently Restricted Net Assets 

Permanently restricted net assets as of July 31 consist of endowment contributions and interests in 
charitable trusts from which investment income is or will be available to support unrestricted or 
donor specified activities, as follows (in thousands): 

2013 2012

Income for:
New York Season (unrestricted) $ 110,137   110,279   
New productions 70,366   66,275   
Telecasts 14,129   13,683   
Young artists 21,128   20,163   
Other specified activities 8,968   9,089   

$ 224,728   219,489   

Included in permanently restricted net assets are two donor restricted gifts that require the use of a 
spending rate to be applied to such funds. Investment income greater than the spending rate is 
required to be reinvested in the fund and, accordingly, is classified as permanently restricted. At 
July 31, 2013 and 2012, the value of such funds included in permanently restricted net assets was 
$55.2 million and $50.9 million, respectively. 

(8) Endowment Funds 

The Met’s endowment consists of approximately 250 individual funds established for a variety of purposes 
including both donor restricted endowment funds and funds designated by the Met to function as 
endowment funds, and related net assets are classified and reported based on the existence or absence of 
donor imposed restrictions. 

The Met is subject to the NYPMIFA and in the case of the Trust, the New York State trust laws. The Met 
has interpreted NYPMIFA as allowing it to appropriate for expenditure or accumulate so much of the 
donor restricted endowment fund as is prudent for the uses, benefits, purposes, and duration for which the 
endowment fund is established, subject to the intent of the donor as expressed in the gift instrument absent 
explicit donor stipulations to the contrary.  

The investment objective of the Met’s investment portfolio is to provide that future growth of the portfolio 
is sufficient to offset normal inflation plus reasonable spending, thereby preserving the constant dollar 
value and purchasing power of the endowment fund. The objective of the investment program is to 
enhance the portfolio’s long-term viability by maximizing the value of the portfolio with prudent level of 
risk. The assets are managed on a total return basis. The Investment Committee of the Board of Managing 
Directors has adopted long-term asset allocation policy mid-range targets for equities, fixed income, and 
alternative investments. 

The Met’s Board of Managing Directors approved a spending policy under which a predetermined amount 
of investment return is authorized to fund current operations. This spending amount represents the Met’s 
determination of a prudent amount of the fair value of the endowment investments available as needed for 
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current operations. This determination is made in accordance with NYPMIFA and New York State trust 
laws. 

From time to time, the fair value of assets associated with donor-restricted endowment funds may fall 
below the historic dollar amount of the fund. Deficiencies of this nature that are reported in unrestricted net 
assets totaled approximately $1.2 million and $10.3 million as of July 31, 2013 and 2012, respectively. 
This deficiency results from unfavorable market fluctuations subsequent to the investment of permanently 
restricted contributions. Subsequent gains that restore the fair value of the assets of the donor-restricted 
endowment fund to the required level will be classified as an increase in unrestricted net assets. 

The Met’s endowment fund consists of the following at July 31, 2013 (in thousands): 

Temporarily Permanently
Unrestricted restricted restricted Total

Donor-restricted $ (1,160)  26,109   212,325   237,274   
Board-designated 16,023   —    —    16,023   

Total endowment
net assets $ 14,863   26,109   212,325   253,297   

The endowment fund consisted of the following at July 31, 2012 (in thousands): 

Temporarily Permanently
Unrestricted restricted restricted Total

Donor-restricted $ (10,317)  25,055   205,571   220,309   
Board-designated 15,755   —    —    15,755   

Total endowment
net assets $ 5,438   25,055   205,571   236,064   

Changes in endowment funds for the year ended July 31, 2013 (in thousands): 

Temporarily Permanently
Unrestricted restricted restricted Total

Endowment net assets,
July 31, 2012 $ 5,438   25,055   205,571   236,064   

Investment return, net 30,279   1,054   3,779   35,112   
Contributions —    —    2,975   2,975   
Appropriation for expenditure (20,854)  —    —    (20,854)  

Endowment net assets,
July 31, 2013 $ 14,863   26,109   212,325   253,297   
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Changes in endowment and reserve funds for the year ended July 31, 2012 (in thousands): 

Temporarily Permanently
Unrestricted restricted restricted Total

Endowment net assets,
July 31, 2011 $ 7,470   38,761   206,623   252,854   

Investment return, net 18,784   (13,706)  (1,558)  3,520   
Contributions —    —    506   506   
Appropriation for expenditure (20,816)  —    —    (20,816)  

Endowment net assets,
July 31, 2012 $ 5,438   25,055   205,571   236,064   

(9) Commitments and Contingencies 

The Met has a letter of credit with a bank in the amount of $11.6 million, which serves as security with an 
insurance company for unpaid workers’ compensation claims. 

The Opera House is leased, under an operating lease agreement, from Lincoln Center for the Performing 
Arts, Inc., until the year 2016, with renewal options for two additional 25-year periods. Under the terms of 
the lease, the Met is obligated to pay the expenses of maintaining and operating the Opera House and the 
Met’s portion of the expenses for the common facilities of Lincoln Center. 

(10) Related Party 

The Metropolitan Opera Guild (the Guild) is an independent not-for-profit organization that, in addition to 
carrying out its own educational program activities, makes contributions to the Met. Certain officers of the 
Guild are members of the Met’s Board of Managing Directors. The Met also maintains the membership 
records of the Guild and the Guild remits to the Met its membership revenues less the operating expenses 
of its magazine. Included in contributions receivable is approximately $667,000 and $765,000 due from the 
Guild at July 31, 2013 and 2012, respectively. Revenues from the Guild for the years ended July 31, 2013 
and 2012 were $6.4 million and $6.5 million, respectively. 

(11) Subsequent Events 

In connection with the preparation of the consolidated financial statements, the Met evaluated events after 
the consolidated balance sheet date of July 31, 2013 through December 20, 2013, which was the date the 
consolidated financial statements were available to be issued and has concluded that there are no 
subsequent events requiring disclosure. 
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CAMPAIGN FOR  
THE MET

$50 million

Ann Ziff and the Ziff Family

$30 million

Mercedes and Sid Bass
1 Anonymous Donor

$15 million

Karen and Kevin Kennedy
Suzie and Bruce Kovner
William C. and Susan F. Morris
Jeanette lerman-neubauer  

and Joseph neubauer
†Dr. Agnes Varis and †Karl leichtman

$10 million

The Annenberg Foundation
Betsy and edward Cohen/ 

Areté Foundation Fund for  
new productions and Revivals

Judith-Ann Corrente  
and Wim Kooyker

$7.5 million

Beth and Gary Glynn
Francis Goelet trusts
Mr. and Mrs. Wilmer J. Thomas, Jr.
Robert W. Wilson

$5 million

Bloomberg
Mrs. paul Desmarais Sr.
Gramma Fisher Foundation, 

Marshalltown, Iowa
Mary and Michael Jaharis
Frayda and George lindemann
The Andrew W. Mellon Foundation
Howard and Sarah Solomon

$2.5 million

Hermione Foundation,  
laura Sloate, trustee

The Jaharis Family Foundation
Mrs. Betty Wold Johnson
The Gilbert S. Kahn &  

John J. noffo Kahn Foundation
Mr. and Mrs. William R. Miller
Mr. and Mrs. paul M. Montrone
The Dr. M. lee pearce Foundation
elena and †Rudy prokupets
Marvin Schein
Ambassador and Mrs.  

nicholas taubman
Robert l. turner
2 Anonymous Donors

$1 million

Arthur F. and Alice e. Adams 
Charitable Foundation 

Arthur F. and Alice e. Adams 
Supporting Foundation 

Adrienne Arsht
Richard and Susan Braddock Family 

Foundation

Judy and Russell Carson
Simona and Jerome A. Chazen
Jane and Jerry del Missier
Harry and Misook Doolittle
elizabeth M. and  

Jean Marie R. eveillard
Mr. and Mrs. Anthony B. evnin,  

in honor of Sarah Billinghurst
Marina Kellen French
The Horace W. Goldsmith Foundation
William Randolph Hearst Foundation
Frederick Joseph Iseman
Cindy and tod Johnson
The Kapnick Foundation
James W. Kinnear
The Kirsh Family Foundation
Dominique and Frédéric laffont
Manhattan Borough president
Vivian Milstein
new York City Council
new York City Department of 

Cultural Affairs
The lloyd e. Rigler– 

lawrence e. Deutsch Foundation
William Rondina
The Fan Fox and leslie R. Samuels 

Foundation, Inc.
Arnold and Marie Schwartz Fund
†Mr. and Mrs. paul Soros
The Starr Foundation
In memory of edouard Stern
Mrs. Bert S. turner
Wyncote Foundation, as 

recommended by Frederick R. 
Haas and Daniel K. Meyer, M.D.

2 Anonymous Donors

$500,000

Jacob Burns Foundation, Inc.
edgar Foster Daniels Foundation
The Diller–von Furstenberg Family 

Foundation
Richard and elizabeth Gilbert,  

in memory of Ralph Gilbert
†Joseph l. Gossner
Carol Colburn Grigor
Dr. David G. Knott and  

Ms. Françoise Girard
Dr. Coco lazaroff
Bertita and Guillermo l. Martínez
The Richard J. Massey Foundation for 

the Arts and Sciences
The Zvi and ofra Meitar Family Fund
Harvey R. and Ruth Miller  

Charitable Fund
The †Shirley Cohen and Rosalind 

Miranda trust
The Ambrose Monell Foundation
Maria Shustorovich
Grant and Jacqui Smith
The Honorable and Mrs.  

David A. Straz, Jr.
Mr. and Mrs. ezra K. Zilka

$250,000

American express
t. t. & W. F. Chao Foundation

Vincent and Angelina Grimaldi 
Cioffari

Mr. and Mrs. David H. elliott
eugene and emily Grant
Mr. and Mrs. C. H. Jenkins, Jr. 
The link Foundation
Annette Merle-Smith
Metropolitan opera Club
Rosalind Miranda and  

John Mclintock
Charles and lisa Simonyi Fund for 

Arts and Sciences
Katherine Farley and Jerry I. Speyer
Barbara Augusta teichert
Yves Saint laurent

$100,000

Joan taub Ades and Alan M. Ades
Beverly and Robert G. Bartner
Stanley and Marion Bergman Family 

Charitable Fund
The Booth Ferris Foundation
Mr. and Mrs. Donald Bryant, Jr.
Mr. and Mrs. Stephen l. Green
Mr. and Mrs. Ray J. Groves
Yvonne and Kenneth H. Hannan, Jr., 

in honor of James levine
Mr. and Mrs. Sidney Kimmel
William and Aimée Maroney
Mr. and Mrs. A. C. McKellar
John p. and Anne Welsh Mcnulty 

Foundation
Mr. and Mrs. Corbin R. Miller
The new York State Music Fund
Socrates nicholas and Gerard F. Bell
Mr. Juan Antonio pérez Simón
The peter Jay Sharp Foundation
2 Anonymous Donors

COUNCIl FOR  
ARTISTIC EXCEllENCE
FOUNDERS

($500,000 or more)

Mercedes t. Bass
edward e. and Betsy Z. Cohen
Judith-Ann Corrente  

and Wim Kooyker
Francis Goelet trusts
Gramma Fisher Foundation, 

Marshalltown, Iowa
Mary and Michael Jaharis
The Gilbert S. Kahn & John J. noffo 

Kahn Foundation
Karen and Kevin Kennedy
Suzie and Bruce Kovner
Jeanette lerman-neubauer and  

Joseph neubauer
Frayda and George lindemann
estate of Cora M. Marks
Metropolitan opera Club
William C. and Susan F. Morris
estate of Donald Sisler
Mr. and Mrs. Howard Solomon
estate of Ann tallman

Ambassador and Mrs.  
nicholas taubman

lila Acheson and DeWitt Wallace 
endowment Fund

Ann Ziff
2 Anonymous Donors

BENEFAC TORS 

($250,000 or more)

Adrienne Arsht
Mr. and Mrs. Richard S. Braddock
estate of Joseph Coan
edgar Foster Daniels Foundation
Jerry and Jane del Missier
Mrs. paul Desmarais Sr.
Misook Doolittle
Marina Kellen French
Beth and Gary Glynn
The Horace W. Goldsmith Foundation
Rolf Heitmeyer
Marlene Hess and James D. Zirin
Frederick Iseman
Charles and Ann Johnson Foundation
Anna-Maria and Stephen Kellen 

Foundation 
The Zvi and ofra Meitar Family Fund
Mr. and Mrs. William R. Miller
Vivian Milstein
The Ambrose Monell Foundation
The Dr. M. lee pearce Foundation
estate of James F. petras
†Rudy and elena prokupets
Mr. and Mrs. Hartley R. Rogers
estate of Jeannette S. Rohatyn
Mrs. Julio Mario Santo Domingo
estate of priscilla M. Stafford
The Honorable and Mrs.  

David A. Straz, Jr.
Mr. and Mrs. Wilmer J. Thomas, Jr.
Robert l. turner
The Agnes Varis trust
1 Anonymous Donor

SPONSORS

($100,000 or more)

Arthur F. and Alice e. Adams 
Supporting Foundation

elisabete and Marcos Arbaitman
The Theodore H. Barth Foundation
M. Beverly and Robert G. Bartner
Frank A. Bennack, Jr.
Glen W. Bowersock
Samantha and nabil Chartouni
estate of Thaïs Cohrone
Mr. and Mrs. Bruce Crawford
Alberto Cribiore
Dunard Fund uSA
estate of Joseph edlin
The enoch Foundation
Mr. and Mrs. Gordon p. Getty
The Faith Golding Foundation
Mr. and Mrs. Stephen l. Green
estate of Joel Grinker
Alexandra Kauka Hamill
ekkehart Hassels-Weiler

The Metropolitan opera acknowledges with deep appreciation the extraordinary support of its patrons,  
who each season assure continuity in the Met’s high artistic and performance standards.

2012–13 Patrons
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perk Hixon and Marguerite lee
Miss Gillian Attfield and  

Mr. and Mrs. Thomas J. Hubbard
Betty Wold Johnson
linda e. Johnson
Alexandra Krofta Jones
Max Kade Foundation, Inc.
The Christian Keesee Charitable trust
Mr. and Mrs. Donald M. Kendall
The Kern Family, in memory of  

Ralph W. Kern
James W. Kinnear III
Dr. Herbert G. Kloiber
Dr. David G. Knott and  

Ms. Françoise Girard
Meyer and ellen Koplow
Dominique and Frédéric laffont
Dr. Coco lazaroff
Dr. and Mrs. peter J. linden
trusts of Sheldon and Marilyn  

Mac leod
Jacqueline Badger Mars
Mr. Andrew J. Martin-Weber
The Richard J. Massey Foundation for 

the Arts and Sciences
The elizabeth B. McGraw Foundation
John p. and Anne Welsh Mcnulty 

Foundation
Annette Merle-Smith
Mr. and Mrs. Corbin R. Miller
Harvey R. and Ruth Miller Charitable 

Fund
linda Mirels
William e. Mitchell
Mr. and Mrs. Donald newhouse
Mr. and Mrs. S. I. newhouse, Jr.
Katharina otto-Bernstein and  

nathan Bernstein
Irene pollin
trust of Suzanne poole
estate of Dwight D. Rangeler
Ingeborg and Ira leon Rennert
Jay B. Rosenberg
The Fan Fox and leslie R. Samuels 

Foundation, Inc.
Arnold and Marie Schwartz Fund
In memory of Joan and  

Charles Scribner, Jr., by their  
son Charles Scribner III

The Shubert Foundation, Inc.
Grant and Jacqui Smith
†Mr. and Mrs. paul Soros
Marc and eva Stern Foundation
Donna and Richard tedlow  

in loving memory of  
Mr. and Mrs. Samuel l. tedlow

Mr. and Mrs. John J. Veronis
†Mr. and Mrs. Robert e. Wagenfeld
Ambassador Marilyn Ware
George Weiss
Mrs. Charles B. Wrightsman
Mr. and Mrs. ezra K. Zilkha
Mr. and Mrs. M. e. Zukerman
2 Anonymous Donors

THE GOlDEN 
HORSESHOE
(Three-year commitments  
of $200,000 or more)

The Cameron and Jane Baird 
Foundation

endre A. Balazs Foundation
Francine J. Berry
Joe W. Bratcher III

In memoriam—Michele, Agnese and 
eclesia Cestone

leonard S. Coleman, Jr.
Barbara and Raymond Dalio
Mrs. Charles H. Dyson
elizabeth and Jean-Marie eveillard
Mr. and Mrs. John French III
The l. W. Frohlich Charitable trust
Mark Getty
Seifi and ellen Ghasemi
Richard Gilder
Joan Granlund
Mr. and Mrs. Ray J. Groves
Kenneth H. and Yvonne Hannan, Jr.
Francena t. Harrison Foundation 

trust
William A. Haseltine
†Mr. and Mrs. James owen Herlands
Hermione Foundation,  

laura Sloate, trustee
Mr. Robert Huffaker
Mr. and Mrs. C. H. Jenkins, Jr.
The Honorable Thomas H. Kean
Mrs. Martin S. Kimmel
The Kingsley Foundation
The elroy and terry Krumholz 

Foundation
†Mr. and Mrs. laurence l. lampert
Mr. and Mrs. Walter J. laughery, Jr.
Mr. and Mrs. Alexander M. laughlin
Mr. and Mrs. Mitch leigh
Ruth and leonard litwin
nancy G. and C. Richard MacGrath 

Fund of the new York Community 
trust

William and Aimée Maroney
Henry and lucy Moses Fund, Inc.
Amy and Joseph perella
The lloyd e. Rigler– 

lawrence e. Deutsch Foundation
Dr. and Mrs. Raymond R. Sackler
paul underwood
Mary ellen and Karl von der Heyden
Mr. and Mrs. Sedgwick Ward
Roberto Wellisch
2 Anonymous Donors

MAJOR GIFTS 
PROGRAM
SIlVER C IRClE

($50,000 or more)

eric e. and Dr. tracy Aanenson
Ms. Jane Beasley
Mr. and Mrs. Charles Becker
estate of Jane Binger
Mr. and Mrs. paul Bogoni
lady Bordiga and †Benno,  

lord Bordiga
Daniel C. Cochran and  

Gregory B. Sutphin
Mr. and Mrs. Arthur G. Cohen
Jacques and emy Cohenca Foundation
estate of William D. Dana
Charles and Helen Dolan
Rosemary and Roger enrico
Mr. and Mrs. J. A. esteve
Mr. and Mrs. Anthony B. evnin
estate of Mrs. Henry F. Fischbach
Mr. and Mrs. Austin t. Fragomen, Jr.
Joan and Donald Fried
Rosalind and eugene J. Glaser 

Foundation
The Grace and Mercy Foundation

Regina and John Heldrich
Mr. and Mrs. louis Hering
Richard H. Holzer Memorial 

Foundation
William W. Karatz
Mr. and Mrs. Dennis W. laBarre
Dr. Betsy and Hunt lawrence
Frank A. lenti
Mr. and Mrs. A. Bruce Mainwaring
Bertita and Guillermo l. Martìnez
Michael and Sandra ourusoff Massey
Mr. and Mrs. A. C. McKellar
Individual Retirement Account of 

Mary S. Mittnacht
David H. Murdock
panwy Foundation
estate of Mary elizabeth perry
The Morris and Alma Schapiro Fund
Henry Schein, Inc.
Joan C. Schwartz
Dr. and Mrs. Thomas p. Sculco
estate of Bess Thanos
Charitable Gift Annuity of  

John Thomison
Mrs. John todd
estate of Robert e. totels
Mrs. langdon Van norden
John and Barbara Vogelstein
The new York Community trust - 

Wallace Special projects Fund
In Memoriam, Henry J. Witka
2 Anonymous Donors

PRES IDENT ’S C IRClE FEllOWS

($35,000 or more)

Joan taub Ades and Alan M. Ades
The Frances & Benjamin Benenson 

Foundation
Roxanne Brandt
†Robert and Christa Brown
Alexa and Michael Chae
Simon and eve Colin Foundation, Inc.
Douglas S. Cramer/Hubert Bush
Robert J. Cubitto and ellen R. nadler
John M. De Ciccio
Mr. and Mrs. Frank p. Diassi
Clarence and Anne Dillon Dunwalke 

trust
philip M. eisenberg Charitable trust
eugene H. and Anne D. Gardner
Richard and elizabeth Gilbert
†Allen and lola Goldring
Anne and John Hall
Mr. and Mrs. J. tomilson Hill
†Frank and lisina Hoch
Dr. Waine and Deanna Johnson
†Immanuel and Vera Kohn
Ms. laurie J. landeau
Mrs. James F. lincoln, Jr.
Dottie litwin Brief and  

Dr. Donald Brief
Mr. and Mrs. pedro Magalhães
Diana and peter Marcus
nina B. Matis
Greg olsen
Dr. Kazuko K. price
Jeannette and Jonathan Rosen
The ted Snowdon Foundation
Mr. and Mrs. edward Streim
Cynthia C. Wainwright  

and Stephen Berger
The Weismann Foundation
Satoko Yahata
Robert and Victoria Zoellner
4 Anonymous Donors

PRES IDENT ’S C IRClE SPONSORS

($25,000 or more)

John and Robin Abbott
Joseph & Sophia Abeles Foundation
Mrs. peter W. Allport
elinor Appleby
Argos Fund
Mr. and Mrs. James K. Asselstine
Avery Family trust
Mr. lawrence t. Babbio Jr.
Mr. and Mrs. Robert C. Baker
estate of Mary evelyn Bane
Mrs. Morris H. Bergreen
The Honorable and †Mrs.  

Max n. Berry
Mr. Mark Bertolini
The Bodman Foundation
Mr. and Mrs. Robert Bond
Robert Brenner
Mr. and Mrs. Jeffrey K. Brinck
Mrs. Thomas S. Brush
Mr. and Mrs. Donald Bryant, Jr.
Mr. and Mrs. Van V. Burger
†Mr. and Mrs. James e. Burke
Mr. Richard A. Cantor and  

Dr. pamela Cantor
Valentino D. Carlotti
†Mr. and Mrs. George p. Caulkins, Jr.
Ms. patrizia Cavazzoni
patricia and John Chadwick
The Honorable Mrs. H. B. Chapin
louise G. Chapman
Simona and Jerome A. Chazen
Mr. Christopher Cheever
Joseph M. Cohen
Bruce and nancy Cooper
Hope A. Curtis
Mr. and Mrs. Diego De Giorgi
Mrs. Vincent de Roulet
Marie G. Dennett Foundation, Inc.
Bob Doorenbos
Mr. and †Mrs. John R. Doss
Mrs. Walter G. Dunnington, Jr.
Mr. and Mrs. Brian Duperreault
Dr. and Mrs. Dean S. edmonds, Jr.
The einhorn Family Foundation
Stephanie and David eisenberg
epstein teicher philanthropies,  

in memory of Milton S. teicher
Richard and Donna esteves
J. Christopher Flowers
Fondation Rumsey-Cartier
Stephanie potter Foster
George and Marie Frazza
Ryo toyonaga and The Alvin e. 

Friedman-Kien Foundation
Mr. and Mrs. Andrew Georges
Celia and Walter Gilbert
Mr. and Mrs. John D. Gilliam
Barbara and Robert Glauber
Allan H. and Marilyn Glick
peggy and Matt Gluck
lorna and edwin Goodman
†Joseph l. Gossner
eugene and emily Grant
Randall A. Greene
Sarah and Geoffrey Gund
G. Morris Gurley
Melissa Ko Hahn & Doug Hahn
Russel Hamilton
The Stephen p. Hanson Family 

Foundation
patricia and Rodes Hart
Mr. and Mrs. Henry H. Hoyt, Jr.
Mr. and Mrs. David M. Huggin
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Matthew Hurd and Shari Shepard
The Isenberg Family Charitable trust/

Gene and Ronnie Isenberg,trustees
Cerise Jacobs for Charles
Jephson educational trusts
Franklin p. and Catherine H. Johnson
Dr. Joseph e. Johnson IV  

and Dr. Karen C. Diaz
nancy louise Jones
John Kander
Mr. and Mrs. Vikas Kapoor
Akiko Katayama
eugene Keilin and Joanne Witty
Ms. Susan petersen Kennedy
Mr. and Mrs. Thomas Ketchum
Yung Hee Kim
Joshua Kindler and Sasha DeWitt
Mrs. William t. Knight III
liz and George Krupp
Mr. and Mrs. Fernand l. lamesch
Mr. and Mrs. W. loeber landau
So-Chung Shinn lee and tony W. lee
Harrison t. leFrak
Jonathan e. lehman
Drs. Martin and Sarah leibowitz
Mimi and †Mortimer levitt
Barbara and Ira A. lipman
William and Helen Yee little
William and Diane lloyd
Mrs. Joan C. long
Audrey love Charitable Foundation
Dr. Adel Mahmoud and  

Dr. Sally Hodder
Mrs. Joseph l. Mailman
Mr. and Mrs. James S. Marcus
nancy A. Marks
Adrienne B. Mars
Sylvia and leonard Marx
Mrs. Gwynne G. McDevitt
louis Miano
Richard J. Miller, Jr.
Daniel and Janet Mordecai 

Foundation, Inc.
trifon and Despina natsis
Dr. and Mrs. Irwin J. nudelman
James M. and nora C. orphanides
Howard S. paley
Michael and Colleen perlis
Caryl D. philips
Ken and Jane pigott
evelyn and John G. popp
Dr. and Mrs. Stephen D. prystowsky
In memory of  

Mrs. Antonina S. Ranieri
Dr. and Mrs. James S. Reibel
Susan Sulzberger Rolfe
Daniel and Joanna S. Rose
Mr. and Mrs. Jon W. Rotenstreich
Milton B. Rubin
Mr. William Rudin
Adriana Sarmiento and  

Michael Hollihan
Charles and Mildred Schnurmacher 

Foundation
Donna and Marvin Schwartz
elinor & †Sheldon Seevak/ 

Seevak Family Foundation
eiko and Gary Seevers
natalie and Howard Shawn
Gil Shiva
Mr. Itai Shoffman
Anne and †Constantine  

Sidamon-eristoff
Jim and Marilyn Simons
Mrs. William F. Sondericker
Annaliese Soros

Garry, Susan and Melanie Spector
ted and †Vada Stanley
Alan and Kathryn Stone
Dr. and Mrs. Michael and Beth Stone
Mrs. philip A. Straus
Mr. and Mrs. Richard A. Strauss
Miss Grace M. tanaka
Mrs. Thomas e. taplin
Mr. and Mrs. A. Alfred taubman
William and Karen tell
Judith and Michael Thoyer
Robert and Jane toll
Mr. and Mrs. Stephen traynor
The Richard tucker Music Foundation
John G. turner and Jerry G. Fischer
estate of ella upsher
Dr. and Mrs. p. Roy Vagelos
Mr. and Mrs. langdon Van norden, Jr.
lillian Vernon and paolo Martino
Marica and Jan Vilcek
Mary Wallach
David Warren and Helen lee-Warren
Sandra and †Bert W. Wasserman
linda and Bob Weber
Mr. and Mrs. lorne Weil
The Isak and Rose Weinman 

Foundation, Inc.
Robert and patricia Ross Weis
elaine Werner and Donald Wilkinson
neil Westreich
Anthony and Dale Westreich
Wingate/ostrow Family
Rosalyn Kempton Wood
Mrs. Helen M. Wright
Simon Yates
Mr. and Mrs. leonard Zigelbaum
11 Anonymous Donors
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Mr. and Mrs. Georg Albers-Schonberg
Ms. Veronica Atkins
In memory of Ilse Bargmann
The Hildegard Behrens Foundation
Mr. and Mrs. George B. Beitzel
William Buffet and Susan Kennedy
Mr. and Mrs. Robert J. Callander
tarquin M. Callen
estate of elizabeth Caswell
Mr. and Mrs. John Ceriale
Diana Reid and Marc Chazaud
Judith and Stewart Colton
John W. Cross III
Mr. and Mrs. Hart Fessenden
†James J. Fischer and  

Anne McB. Curtis
Sonia Florian
Barbara and Joseph Friedman
The Robert Goelet Foundation
In memory of Hope perry Goldstein
Carol and Howard Holtzmann
John and Sylvia Hughes
Mr. and Mrs. John R. Hupper
Carl Jacobs Foundation
estate of lydia Jorgensen
Alice Kaplan
Dr. and Mrs. Joel J. Kassimir
Mr. William t. and Mrs. Mary Kerr
Andrea Klepetar-Fallek
Jeannette and H. peter Kriendler 

Charitable trust
†Mr. and Mrs. Regis B. lippert

Carmen lopez
Richard M. lorenzo
Andrew and elizabeth Smith Malik
Mr. and Mrs. Jeffrey Manocherian
Mr. and †Mrs. Hamish Maxwell
oceanic Heritage Foundation
Daniel and Rita paul
Ms. elizabeth peyton
Barbara and Alan Rosenzweig
Jane and David Shapiro
Stephanie and Fred Shuman
Fredric A. Silberman and Sharon Kim 

Siegfriedt
Klara and larry Silverstein
M. patricia Simmons
Richard A. Sprague
Jeffrey H. Squire
Mr. and Mrs. eugene e. Stark, Jr.
Mrs. Frederick A. Stebbins
Mrs. Walter taussig, in memory of 

Maestro Walter taussig
Bethany Thomas and  

Frederick powers in memory of 
Thomas p. lueders

evelyn G. tielking
The Doris M. and peter S. tilles 

Foundation
Sandra tucker
Mr. leonard Weiss
5 Anonymous Donors
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Akzo nobel Surface Chemistry
Ann B. Alford
lamberto Andreotti
Mr. and †Mrs. Henry H. Arnhold
Wayne I. Baden and †Drayton Grant
Agnieszka and Witold Balaban
Mrs. Agnes M. Baldassarre
†Maurice and lillian Barbash
penny and Bill Bardel
nancy and Jim Barton
John e. Baumgardner, Jr.
Beech Street Foundation
Joan S. Beir
The Dr. William Benenson Family 

Foundation
Dr. Arnold t. Berman
paul p. Bernstein and peggy Jennings 

Bernstein
John and penelope Biggs
luther W. Brady
Mr. nicholas F. Brady
Dr. and Mrs. Michael Chen
peter Christensen and Mark Hummell
Theodore Chu
Mr. and Mrs. Salvatore A. Cingari
Abby Joseph Cohen and David Cohen
Mr. Jim Collier
Michèle Beigel Corash and  

laurence Corash
Dr. laura A. Coruzzi and  

Dr. Robert J. Schneider
Melvin M. Cox
Mr. and Mrs. Gerald Craig
Dr. Frank A. Critz
Robert and †Debra de Rothschild
Mr. and Mrs. Joseph De Feo
Richard and Jennie DeScherer
Knox Dobbins
Ms. Virginia M. Doty
Mr. Carl W. Duyck and  

Dennis J. Flood
Mr. and Mrs. David H. elliott
Mr. and Mrs. K. F. etzold
Mr. and Mrs. peter M. Fahey

Katherine and George Fan
Mr. and Mrs. James t. Fang
Carol and Robin l. Farkas
Cynthia and Herbert Fields
Joel and naomi Freedman
Mr. and Mrs. Jeffrey Friedman
Dr. and Mrs. Robert l. Frye, in honor 

of Mr. Francis Robinson
Kenneth J. Furrier
The Honorable Rudolph W. Giuliani 

and Judith S. Giuliani
edythe and †Mike Gladstein
Dr. Marianne Goodman
Ann Gottlieb
Kenneth and Doreen Gray
Great performance tours
Monika and peter Greenleaf
Dr. and Mrs. Raul M. Gutierrez
Dr. Harry D. Harper
Ms. Gene A. Heller
Gardner Hendrie and Karen Johansen
Drs. Andrew and Irma Hilton
Judith M. and Richard S. Hoffman
Dr. Joel Horovitz
Mr. and Mrs. James R. Houghton
Dr. Betty Iu
JJR Foundation
trust of edgar Jackson
Michael and Katherine Johnson
Mr. and Mrs. R. Courtney Jones
Dr. leonard Karasyk
Mr. and †Mrs. William l. Keefauver
Mr. Whitmore Kelley
lawrence A. Kern
Mr. and Mrs. Michael l. Kettenbach
Mr. and Mrs. Charles D. Klein
Kenneth l. and eve B. Klothen
Anela Kolohe Foundation
nanette l. laitman
lyman l. leathers
Maribelle and Stephen leavitt 

philanthropic Fund
Mr. and Mrs. perry and lenore lerner
leon levy Foundation
Ms. linda lewis and  

William Buford lewis
Cynthia Wong and David lippe
Sam and emily Mann
Catie and Don Marron
page and otto Marx Jr. Foundation
The pierre and tana Matisse 

Foundation
Barbara McCullough
Frank and Susan Merrick
leonard and Sally Michaels
Dr. and Mrs. larry Miller
Mr. Thomas F. Moore
Mr. and Mrs. Joseph J. Morrow
Mrs. K. Fred netter
nichols Foundation, Inc.,  

in memory of C. W. nichols  
and Adelaide B. nichols

Fred and Gilda nobel Foundation
lucio and Joan noto
Mr. and Mrs. edward C. oelsner III
The o’Grady Foundation
Ambassador and Mrs. John D. ong
patricia perry and Donald oresman
Mr. Hamish parker
Susan, Alan and Austin pearce
Frederick A. B. perlberg
Antonia pew
Richard pineles
John A. pirovano
Cynthia Hazen polsky and  

leon B. polsky



50 patrons

Anna M. pontecorvo
Harry pontone
Mrs. Frederick H. prince
Mary Ann and Bruno A. Quinson
Carey Ramos and Catrina Bentley
Heidi and lee Rigney
Sir Simon and lady Robertson
Kenneth and ellen Roman
Karen and Gary Rose
Susan and elihu Rose Foundation
tony Rosenthal and Ruth Ganister
paul Sack and Shirley Davis
The Sagner Family Foundation
In honor of Horacio Saldarriaga
Roberta and †Irwin Schneiderman
Jon and noralee Sedmak
Mrs. Florence Seligman
Dr. ling Yu Shih
Dr. Jan Siegmund and Ben Maddox
John leland Sills and  

elizabeth papadopoulos
Jeffrey Sosnick and Albert A. Carucci
Mr. and Mrs. Martin Sosnoff
estate of Ruth C. Stern
Marjorie and Michael Stern
peter Sullivan and Mary Krueger
Marie and John Sussek
Aso o. tavitian
Matthew trombadore  

and †Joanne Wood
Gerald F. tucci
Mr. and Mrs. Ronald ulrich
Ann and Bill Van ness
Mr. and Mrs. S van der Zwan
Joyce p. and Diego R. Visceglia
The Jeffrey David Walerstein Fdn., 

Ronald and Gail Walerstein, ttees.
Sue Ann Weinberg
laurie and David I. Weiner
†Mr. and Mrs. George Weissman
Mr. and Mrs. Frank p. Wendt
Mr. and Mrs. Mitchell G. Williams
The David A. and Shoshanna Wingate 

Foundation
The Wise Family Fund
ursule Yates Wolski
Janet Yaseen and the Honorable  

Bruce M. Kaplan
†John and Mary Young
Dr. Micha Ziprkowski
Donald and Barbara Zucker
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Mr. and Mrs. Christoph Adamski
luis Ball and Helena Blohm Ball
Klara Barna
Benjamin and patricia Beiler
Mr. norman Berman
emma and eli Bluestone
Desolie and John Boys
Jonathan Brezin and linda Keen
Mrs. Mildred C. Brinn
Mrs. Walter F. Brissenden
Barbara and John J. Burns, Jr.
Mr. and Mrs. Bruce R. Burton
Robert Jean Campbell MD, KCSJ, 

Chev. Cesare l. Santeramo, KCSJ
Drs. Steven and Deborah Cavalier
Mr. and Mrs. Henry Christensen III
Mr. Stuart H. Coleman
pamela and Bill Craven
Ralph p. Craviso
Sally e. Cummins
Mr. and Mrs. William t. Dentzer, Jr.

Carol e. and David A. Domina
Rebecca and Roger Fine
larry Flamholtz and Michael payton
Fribourg Foundation
Ms. Miriam Goldman
Michael Gordon
Renee l. Greenberg
Marife Hernandez and Joel Bell
Steven l. Holley
Judith Hull
The Irwin Family
lori Kaufman and Robert Rankell
Garrison Keillor and  

Jenny lind nilsson
Kleinschmidt Family Foundation
Carolyn W. W. and Thomas p. larsen
Mr. and Mrs. Mitchell l. lathrop
Georgia J. lind and David Waldman
The Family of Vera G. list
Richard lynn and Joseph evall
Mr. and Mrs. Samuel Macfarlane
Vicente A. Madrigal and  

Ann e. Harrison
Mr. and Mrs. Matthew McAskin
toni and Martin McKerrow
Ms. Julia Meech
Susan Merinoff
The paula and Gerard Munera 

Foundation
William F. and Mary B. Murdy
Antonio and Carla navalon
David and Maria patterson
Amy and John peckham
Judy and Jim pohlman
George poisal III
Anna K. Reimann
Mary S. Riebold and Helen t. Murphy
Mr. and Mrs. leonard Riggio
Ms. Susan Riley
Mr. and Mrs. Theodore C. Rogers
Mr. Jeffrey J. Rosen
Mr. and Mrs. William B. Rudner
Carol A. Ruth
Mr. and Mrs. Bradley K. Sabel
Mr. and Mrs. Rudi e. Scheidt
Dr. Cynthia Stauffacher
Mr. and Mrs. Ronald Stewart
Walter and Alice Strine, esqs.
Jay H. tanenbaum and Family
†Henry and Marilyn taub Foundation
Helene and Hugh tilney
Barbara and Donald tober
elizabeth S. tunick
Bonnie M. turner
Mr. and Mrs. e. Voridis
Marcia Whitaker
Jean D. Wilson, M.D.
Dr. Francis A. Wood
The oni Zazen Collection
7 Anonymous Donors 
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Constance Abrams and Ann Verber
Charles H. Adler In Honor of  

Kurt Adler
Mr. and Mrs. Burnside e.  

Anderson III
David W. Anstice and  

Ana-Maria Zaugg
Mr. and Mrs. peter A. Aron
nelson Ascher and patricia upton
Atlanta Music Festival Association
Mr. Richard n. Aumiller
Mr. Steven K. Aurand
Susan A. Babson opera Fund  

for emerging Artists
Cornelia and †Glenn Bailey

David Baldwin and Helen Milner
Indrajit and Rachel Bardhan
R. Joseph Barnett
Renato and Beverly Baserga
Josef Bauer and eileen Berman
Donald and Donna Baumgartner
Robert Bausmith and  

Jill peters-Gee, MD
Mr. and Mrs. Frederick Beinecke
†Mr. and Mrs. Jay I. Bennett
Dr. Stephanie Bennett-Smith
Mr. and Mrs. Stanley n. Bergman
Mr. and †Mrs. Bernard Berkowitz
Richard and Michele Bourgerie
Mr. and Mrs. Kenneth Breglio
Barbara Britt
Ms. priscilla e. Browning
Jodi larcombe Burke
Mr. and Mrs. Calvin Cafritz
Mr. and Mrs. Vincent A. Calarco
Ms. Andree Caldwell
Fernando H. Caso
Geraldine V. Chavez
The Children’s Aid Foundation
Vincent and Angelina Grimaldi 

Cioffari
Dena and David Clossey
Mr. teddy Coe
prof. Daniel I. A. Cohen
Mr. and Mrs. Jeffrey e. Cole
Mr. and Mrs. A. Collado-Schwarz
Dr. lee Combrinck-Graham
Dr. Antonio Convit
Sandra Cooksey and C. Robert tully
Hal and Helen Coon
Richard Costello
Rose Marie Cozzarelli
Ronnie and Sheila Cresswell
Ms. Barbara Crosby
Mary S. Cross
The Dana Foundation
Ariane Dandois and  

ondine de Rothschild
Bernadine DeCarlo
elizabeth De Cuevas
Dr. Maitland Deland
The Helen Matchett DeMario 

Foundation, Inc.
Mr. and Mrs. Robert Desjardins
Rosalind Devon
Mr. Stephen DiCarmine
The Fairleigh S. Dickinson, Jr. 

Foundation, Inc.
Jean and louis Dreyfus Foundation
paul and Susan efron Foundation
Dr. Kenneth eisold
Mrs. ervin entrekin
Sylvia M. erhart
Amparo espinosa
trust of Alice Shaw Farber
Mr. pablo Farias, in honor of  

Carolina Campero
Mr. and Mrs. Kenneth R. Feinberg
†Hortense F. Feldblum
M. e. Fetsko
Fiorello’s Cafe
Mrs. leonard K. Firestone
pamela e. Flaherty
Arthur Fleischer, Jr. and  

Susan Fleischer
David and Judy Fleischer
Marvin and †Hilary Fletcher
Stephen and Gail Freifeld
Hollis and Jeffrey Freimark
Futernick Family in  

loving Memory of Dr. Benjamin 
and Hadassah Futerni

Mrs. Margaret poyner Galbraith
Mr. Maurice p. Galli
Fred and Gael Gardner
phyllis and Seymour Gartenberg
estate of Thea Gerstle, in memory of 

luciano pavarotti
Dr. Keith Gianni
Ms. lynn Gilbert
Mr. and Mrs. Thomas D. Gill
Max and elisabeth Gitter
Stuart and Alice Goldman
Ms. lesley Goldwasser
Mr. and Mrs. ely Gonick
Mr. lance J. Gotko and  

paul A. Caddell
Dr. Brian Grady
Mr. Brian Greeff
Joanne t. Greenspun
William R. Griffith
Stanley and nancy Grossman Family 

Foundation
Mr. and Mrs. Jorge Guasch
Agnes Gund
Ms. Irina Gurland
Dr. Thomas B. Hakes and  

Henrietta p. Hakes
eva teig Hardy
Mrs. ethel Harris
Mrs. Kitty Webb Harris
Ms. lynn Harris
Denise Harvey and Kenneth edgar
Stefan edlis and Gael neeson
edward D. Heffner
Mr. and Mrs. James A. Heller
The DuBose and Dorothy Heyward 

Memorial Fund
Diane and Kenneth Hipkins
Janet and †H. Wiley Hitchcock
The Hite Foundation
Ms. elizabeth J. Hodge
Mr. and Mrs. G. Raymond Hodil, Jr.
Barbara D. Horgan
lois and John Horgan
Mrs. peter Dahl Humleker, Jr.
Sally D. Hurlbut
nessa Hyams and Jonathan Miller
Susan and Steven Jacobson
Dr. and Mrs. J. Jafar
Amy and David Jaffe
The Jesselson Family
Christian A. Johnson endeavor 

Foundation
Marguerite R. Jossel
Ms. Marianne Kah
Dr. Alice Kandell
Mr. and Mrs. Gilbert e. Kaplan
Mr. and Mrs. Robert Kargman
Robert M. Kaufman
Mary and Howard Kelberg
Barbara Guss Kemp and Gil Kemp
Mr. and Mrs. Richard Kepner, in 

memory of Mrs. Suzanne Mosby
Mary Rossick Kern and  

Jerome H. Kern
Dr. Hootan Khatami and  

Mr. Daryl H. Fox
Ms. Injoa Kim
King Kullen Grocery Co., Inc.
Mr. and Mrs. Mark Kingdon
temma and Alfred D. Kingsley
Mark A. Kirsch
Mr. and Mrs. Stephen e. Kitchen
Alan and peggy Kligerman
Mrs. lynne G. Klyde
Jeff and Gail Kodosky
Mr. terence Kooyker
In memory of elena Kraus
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Mr. and Mrs. Theodore A. Kurz
George labalme, Jr.
prem lachman
Samuel W. lambert III
Barbara landis-Seid and Barre Seid
lee and peter larson
In memory of louise S. leaf
paul S. and Karen M. levy
Ken lin Fund
Mr. Chien Cho liu
John liu and Barbara page
Jane lombard
Mr. and Mrs. John W. loose
Karen lotman
Dr. and Mrs. Michael B. love
nita and Stephen lowey
Mr. and Mrs. lawrence F. lunt
Mrs. nicholas M. lyras
Gina Giumarra MacArthur
Mr. James Macri
lawrence Maisel and Susan Grant
Mr. and Mrs. peter l. Malkin
Carl and Helen Marbach
Dr. Roberta A. Marlowe
Dr. Robert J. Mascitelli  

and Ms. nigi Sato
Dennis and Gail Mathisen
David W. Mayger
edwin e. McAmis
Bryan l. McCalister
Mr. and Mrs. Ciaran McCloskey
Ms. Ann McDonald
The Curtis W. McGraw Foundation
Mr. Thomas H. McMullen
John C. Meditz and Gloria Marder
Maya Meux
Alice Meyer and elliott Saunders
Bruce Meyers
Allison and Roberto Mignone
Martin C. Mihm, Jr.
Mr. Samuel C. Miller
Sandra Mitchell
Dr. enrique H. Monsanto and  

Dr. Barbara Monsanto
The Flora F. Morrell Charitable trust
Mr. James Mulally
Mrs. Dorothy Musche
Dr. and Mrs. Robert A. Myers
lynn nesbit
Robert A. and Jill C. nesher
Dr. Carmen neu
The Dorothy and Arnold neustadter 

Foundation
Mr. and Mrs. Claude nicaise
Anthony D. nicastri, M.D.
Mrs. peter H. nicholas
Roy and Jenny niederhoffer
Anne and Chuck niemeth
Diane Allen nixon
Mrs. Greenway o’Dea
Cynthia o’leary
In memory of Dr. Denis Joseph 

o’leary, Sr.
Dr. and Mrs. William H. olson
Mr. Francis Q. o’neill
Janice C. oresman
orion Consultants
Mrs. Diane pachetti-Ciampi
Mrs. edward J. parker
Richard and lynne pasculano
Dr. and Mrs. edward l. paul
nancy peretsman and Robert Scully
The perkins Charitable Foundation
Anne and Frank petralito
eduardo R. plantilla, M.D. and  

lina S. plantilla, M.D.

Samuel plimpton and Wendy Shattuck
Dr. Kalmon D. post and  

Mrs. linda Farber post
Dr. and Mrs. William powlis
Mr. and †Mrs. John S. price
nina Bogosian Quigley  

and Matthew Quigley
Mr. and Mrs. lutz R. Raettig
†Janet and John Raggio
Mr. Richard Ravitch
Dr. Cosmo John Re and  

Mr. Charles palmer
Ivy and Stanley t. Relkin
Dr. Donald W. Richman
Mary and Don Roberts
Mr. and Mrs. Felix Rohatyn
Mr. and Mrs. Michael e. Rolland
Rona and Arthur e. Rosenbaum
In Memory of Anna Rosenshine
Mr. and Mrs. Winthrop Rutherfurd, Jr.
Mr. and Mrs. p. G. Ryan
Dr. and Mrs. Hans Sachse
Mr. and Mrs. Vladimir Sadov
Dr. and Mrs. edward M. Salgado
Joseph V. Salzano
Mr. and Mrs. John M. Samuels
Betty and Jack Schafer
Maureen and edwin Schloss
Rachel R. Schneider
The Schonberger Family Foundation, 

in memory of lois Schonberger
Margaret A. Schuhmann
Betsy Schumacker
Michael W. Schwartz
Dr. George Schwarz
Mr. and Mrs. William C. Scott
Mr. and Mrs. Charles J. Seidler, Jr.
Michael Sekus and Bianca Russo
Thea Semanoff and David Semanoff
Mr. Christopher Serbagi
Mr. and Mrs. paul Shiverick
Mrs. Thelma Siben, in memory of 

Aaron Siben
Amy Sklar and Ronald B. Kremnitzer
C. F. Roe Slade Foundation
Michael W. Sonnenfeldt
Charitable Gift Annuity of  

Doris Sperber
Mark and tracy Spitzer
Mrs. Frederick M. Stafford
Ms. Amelia t.R. Starr and  

Mr. Matthew p. Ziehl
Mr. Dennis Stattman and  

Mrs. Beth Grosshans
Mr. and Mrs. Joseph H. Stein, Jr.
In memory of edouard Stern
Mary K. and Gary Stern
Michael R. Stinchcomb
trust of Gertrude o. Sundgren
Dr. Arthur R. and Mrs. Gladys Szeglin
Mr. and Mrs. Jackson tai
Mr. Mark talve
Mr. Arthur taylor
Barbara Augusta teichert
Mr. and Mrs. Daniel F. terry, Jr.
Maureen and noel testa
Mr. and Mrs. David M. tobey
Richard treibick and Christine lanoe
Gil turchin and Indigo
Stephen Van Dolsen
Ms. Cynthia Walk
Marian M. Warden
Charles S. and Jacqueline Warren
lynn Warshow
larry A. Wehr
estate of Xenia Weigel

Mrs. Marie-Hélène Weill
earl D. and Gina Ingoglia Weiner
Stephen M. Weiner
George R. Weinhouse, M.D.
Barbara Ann Weiss
Mr. and Mrs. William S. White
Dr. Thomas Witomski
Valda Witt and Jay Hatfield
trust of Judith C. Wolf
Mr. and Mrs. James D. Wolfensohn
estate of George J. Ziegler
Ward and Diane Zumsteg
15 Anonymous Donors
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trina Allison
Anka and louis Begley
Mr. and †Mrs. John B. Beurket
Drs. eugene and Margit Bleecker
Ms. elizabeth Briguglio
Carol Cass
Mr. and Mrs. nicholas G. Ciriello
Scott Clemons and Karyn Joaquino
Malcolm H. and Ann Cole
Sydney M. Cone III
estate of Margery F. Crist
Mrs. George W. Cutting, Jr.
Mr. and Mrs. Arthur Dellheim
Aashish and Dinyar Devitre
David elgin Dodge
Mr. and Mrs. Thor eckert
lee MacCormick edwards, ph.D.
Karen and Russell eliason
Ms. pilar Ferreira
Mr. and Mrs. Michael e. Gellert
Mr. Jean Claude Gruffat
Mrs. paul Hallingby, Jr.
o. Delton Harrison, Jr.
Martha R. Ingram
laurel and Theodore J. Israel
Dr. laurence Jewell
Henrietta V. Johnstone 1996 trust
pat and paul D. Kaplan
Mr. and Mrs. Mark Kator
Mrs. Kerryn King
Anne C. Kolker, M.D.
tom and Ann Korologos
In memory of esther and  

leonard Kurtz
Ronald H. lamey
Anthony and Cynthia lamport
Mr. and Mrs. Richard A. liddy
Arthur l. loeb
William H. Mandel and  

Robert l. Russell
Dr. Michael R. McGarvey
Jim McCaughan
Rita Z. Mehos
Ms. ellen A. Michelson
Ms. Inga-Britta Mills
Sandra and lowell Mintz
Dr. and Mrs. Franco Muggia, MD
Mr. and Mrs. James J. Murtha
Dr. Francis J. o’Brien and  

Thomas Fazio
Robert C. o’Brien
Dr. and Mrs. Albert H. owens, Jr.
eugene A. papay
Charles and Vicki Raeburn
esther H. Rose
professors David and Sheila Rothman
Shelley and Donald Rubin
Anne M. Ryan
Mr. Roland Scahill

William and Gerie Schumann
Mrs. C. Meteer Schwab
Robert G. Schwartz, Jr.
James Roy Seitz, Jr.
Kenneth and Barbara Seplow
Dr. leroy R. Sharer
Mr. and Mrs. Campbell Steward
Catherine Sweeney
elise C. and Marvin B. tepper
tierney Family Foundation
Mr. and Mrs. lawrence J. toal
Mr. Sheldon turley
Quatt Associates, Inc.
Hannelore Weinberger
Marguerite C. Whitney
Francis Williams
4 Anonymous Donors

($7,500 or more)

Dr. Robert Alpern and  
Dr. patricia preisig

Robert Arnow
lee Auchincloss
pamela J. Awad
Mr. and Mrs. Stephen D. Bach
Cynthia Bagby
Susan Baker and Michael lynch
Dianne Balfour and Carl Adkins
Anne H. Bass
Frances B. Bauer
Mark and Judy Bednar
William J. Beenhouwer
Mel Bergstein and Jane Reisen
William A. Bernie, M.D.
Ms. elaine Bernstein
Mr. Albert and Dr. Gretchen R. Besser
The Reverend terence Blackburn
Dr. and Mrs. Allan Blau in honor of 

Cornerstone Day School
Mr. and Mrs. James A. Block
John and Marjorie Blodgett
lauren Blum
Judy Brady and Drew W. Browning
Amb. and Mrs. W. l. lyons Brown, Jr.
The Revds Sarah Buxton-Smith  

and Stephen J. S. Smith
Donna and peter Calamari
Mr. Steven Charlton
Kimball and patrizia Chen
Ms. Karen Cole
Drs. Thomas and Virginia Collier
Roberta B. Connolly and  

Arthur M. Miller
Dr. Alejandro Cordero
Susan and Stephen Crane
Mr. and Mrs. Sam Crockett
Mr. Mark Dalzell
Richard David and Mark Held
Mr. and Mrs. patrick de Saint-Aignan
Mr. and Mrs. Kenneth A. DeGhetto
Anthony Della Salla
DeRosa Research
Dr. and Mrs. lawrence D. Devoe
Mrs. Myron H. Downs
Amy R. Drill
Rosanne Duncan and Martin leshner
Mary ellen Dundon
linda and Alan englander
Ms. Quince evans
Mr. and Mrs. edward Fichtner
Anita and Gilbert Fields
Dr. and Mrs. Donald J. Filip
Mark A. Fischer and Marney Fischer
Annette Fisherman
Ms. penelope Foley
Heather and Justin Frank
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Dr. George Freundlich
Mrs. Irwin G. Freydberg
Mr. and Mrs. edward A. Friedman
The Sarah and Gideon Gartner 

Foundation
Mrs. Maxfield S. Gibbons
Mr. and †Mrs. Clinton Gilbert, Jr.
Mr. Gregory Gilmartin
Dr. R. Barbara Gitenstein  

and Dr. Donald Hart
Sarah and Seth Glickenhaus
Mr. Steven Goldberg
Mr. and Mrs. Charles Goodman
nancy H. Green
Mrs. Robert M. Greenhood
Ms. Carmen Grossman
Marsha and Michael Gustave
Dr. Brett B. Gutsche
Robert and Caroline Halmi
Kaye Handley
Dr. edward Hanin
Robert Hanley and George Snead
Dr. and Mrs. James M. Hartsuck
Mr. and Mrs. Carlos M. Hernandez
Ms. Huguette M. Hersch
Dr. Carol Hilfer
Joel and Gloria Hoffman
Dr. Ingrid Hollinger
lawrence Inserra, Jr.
Mr. and Mrs. Maurice Jacobs
Susan W. Jacobs
Mr. and Mrs. John A. Johnson
James p. Jones
Mike and Joan Kahn
Mr. Aron Katz
Henry and elaine Kaufman 

Foundation
Mrs. Joan e. Kend
William G. Kirkland
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Mr. and Mrs. evan Buck
Thomas W. Buckner
Ms. Melva Bucksbaum and  

Mr. Raymond J. learsy
Thomas and Rosemarie  

Buehler-Schiller
Dennis and Susan Bunder
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Mr. and Mrs. evan Buck    
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Cathy lincoln 
Mrs. James F. lincoln, Jr. 
lois Anton Mann 
Joan lee parsons 
Mary Jane Riddle 
James l. Ryhal, Jr. 
naomi G. Singer 
Mr. and Mrs. Jerome A. Weinberger 
Charles M. Weis 
1 Anonymous Associate 

OK l AHOMA 
Dr. and Mrs. James M. Hartsuck 
Mrs. John R. potts, Jr. 
Carroll C. Staton 
Mr. and Mrs. Milton e. Wallace 
louiezon Young 

OREGON 
Mrs. Henry M. Shafer
D. Angus Vail 
1 Anonymous Associate

PENNS Y lVANIA 
The †Reverend and  

Mrs. Victor J. Baer, DD 
Dr. luther W. Brady 
George p. Brinklis 
James W. Coultrap, Jr. 
Robert H. Devoe 
edward S. Feldman 
M. e. Fetsko 
Janet R. Frick
Gene Gladstone, in loving memory of 

Kaki Gladstone
Robert Dodd Greene 
Dr. Brett B. Gutsche 
Mr. and Mrs. oliver Hazan 
Dr. Marilyn e. Hess 
Mr. and Mrs. James H. Hudson 
Wallis and Marshall Katz 
Arthur J. Kerr, Jr. 
Virginia B. Kerr 
Michael lauver and friend 
A. Bruce Mainwaring 
Margaret Mainwaring 
Jim McClelland 
Mrs. Skeffington S. norton 3d 
Dr. Harry Rosenthal 
Donald A. Schmidt 
Mrs. philip J. Sheridan 
Dr. and Mrs. M. J. Stamatakos 
Susan teiser and patrick Giacomini 
Honorable Gerald M. tierney and 

Mrs. Sarah M. tierney 
Richard B. Warren 
John R. Wilson, Jr. 
ursule Yates Wolski 
7 Anonymous Associates 

PUER TO R ICO
Fernando H. Caso

RHODE ISl AND 
J. Allan Cain 
Mrs. eva-Maria Coffey 
Carl H. Feldman 
Heather Hanna 

Frederick C. Kilguss, Jr. 
Catherine Maccora 
Dr. Alan B. Weitberg 

SOUTH C AROl INA 
Sue t. Borland 
Dr. Betty Bramlett, in memory of  

Dr. Charner W. Bramlett 
David G. Byrd 
†Dorothy A. and James A. Fisher 
Jerome J. and Kathryn A. Fleischman 
Mr. and Mrs. George e. Gayles 
Mr. and Mrs. Delman Macpherson 
June and Clinton C. Marshall 
Mr. and Mrs. W. Stanton Smith 
Mrs. Irma l. ten Kate 

TENNESSEE 
Dr. Allen overton Battle 
†Mr. and Mrs. leonard W. Frey 
Dorothy M. J. McCaw 
Dr. Arthur M. Mellor 

TE X A S 
lt. Col. James M. Alfonte 
Dr. Mona Hersh-Cochran 
Scott H. Cytron
Marilyn Randle Davis 
Dr. James e. eastman 
Dr. and Mrs. Harvey evans 
Gabriele B. Gruschkus 
Mrs. Z. Hoffman 
Rosemarie McCulloch Hughes 
Heidi e. Hutter 
Stirling Swanson Miller 
Richard e. norris 
Robert J. Saccacio 
Celika Storm 
Sandra tucker 
CDR Jack o. Walker, uSn (Ret.) 
2 Anonymous Associates 

UTAH 
Dr. nancy Futrell 

VERMONT 
patricia C. Compton 
Kay and Richard Ryder, MD 

V IRG IN IA 
Ms. Virginia Martino Bland 
Dr. and Mrs. Joseph V. Braddock 
Ms. Jessie W. Bynum 
James M. Compton, Col, uSA (Ret.) 
Dr. and Mrs. John n. Gardner 
Gary M. Greenbaum 
Robert Gilman Hand 
Holcombe A. J. Hughes, Sr. 
G. Ronald Kastner, phD
David Kunca 
Margaret Ann linn
Susan e. north 
W. larz pearson 
Kazuko K. price 
Dr. Donald W. Richman 
lt. Col. William Russell 
Kevin B. Stone 
Ricardo R. treviño 
2 Anonymous Associates 

WA SHINGTON 
Doug Burnett 
Mr. and Mrs. lawrence W. Clarkson 
Mrs. Bryant Reeve Dunn 

David Holdsworth 
Betty Keisler 
Kevin McClendon 
Cornelius and penelope Rosse 
1 Anonymous Associate

WES T V IRG IN IA 
Carol Bryan 

W ISCONSIN 
C. t. Bundy 2d 
emily Burrows 
lois A. Draves 

W YOMING 
Sylvia l. Warsaw 
1 Anonymous Associate 

INTERNAT IONAl 

THE BAHAMA S 
Stuart and Robin Ray 

C ANADA 
Ms. laura Arpiainen 
Drs. Carol and David Cass 
Robert and Marian Cumming 
Dr. and Mrs. Dean G. Dover 
James W. Healy 
†Frances G. Jackson 
1 Anonymous Associate 

CHINA
Dorette p. S. luke 

DENMARK 
Donald Spoto 

FR ANCE 
Susan S. Kuntz 

I TAlY 
Garner tullis 

JAPAN 
Dr. and Mrs. Yoshiaki Kitazawa 
Hiroshi okano 

ME XICO 
Jerry lester, MD 

S W IT ZERl AND
Robert J. Cubitto 
ellen R. nadler 
Dora tassopoulos 
1 Anonymous Associate

UNITED K INGDOM 
J. Robert Brown 




